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Monday, November 1, 2010

--- On commencing at 9:06 a.m.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.

Good morning.  Are there any preliminary matters before we continue with Mr. Barrett?

MR. SMITH:  No, Madam Chair.

MS. CHAPLIN:  All right.  Mr. Millar, I believe you're next.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

ONTARIO POWER GENERATION - PANEL 10A, resumed


Andrew Barrett, Sworn Previously
Continued Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, Mr. Barrett.

MR. BARRETT:  Good morning.

MR. MILLAR:  I have one area left, and I don't think I will take very long.  I have a couple of questions with regard to the Darlington refurbishment and Regulation 53/05.  I take it you are familiar with that regulation?

MR. BARRETT:  I am.

MR. MILLAR:  And, first, you can confirm for me that the Darlington refurbishment is a 53/05 project?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, in particular, what we call a 624 project.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, that's right.  And, Mr. Barrett, you were involved in the last proceeding, I understand?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, I was.

MR. MILLAR:  So you are certainly familiar with the Darlington new build project, as well?

MR. BARRETT:  I have a level of familiarity with that project.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  You may recall from the last proceeding that Staff made certain submissions with respect to the interpretation of section 624 of O.Reg. 53/05, and I know you are not a lawyer and I am not going to get into a debate about interpretation with you.

But I have quoted both the Board's decision and 53/05 in our booklet of materials.  That is K13.7.  You have the booklet?

MR. BARRETT:  I do.

MR. MILLAR:  You may recall that Staff's interpretation of that regulation -- and you may wish to turn to page 10 of the booklet where the relevant extracts are quoted.  And you can see it just has a "4" there.  The 6 and the 2 are on the previous page, but I think this section of the regulation is well known to most people in the room.

Essentially, Staff's submission revolved around the use of the word "incurred", and it was Staff's submission that that should mean that only expenses that had actually been incurred should be included under that section.  So we made that submission.  And if you will skip ahead to page 14, there is an extract from the decision where you can see our position summarized, and I am going to read it out.  I think it is fair to say the Board sort of agreed with our interpretation, but perhaps not entirely.

MR. SMITH:  Sorry, Mr. Millar, which page of the decision are you referring to?

MR. MILLAR:  Page 38 of the decision, page 14 of the Staff booklet.  I will give everyone a moment.  It is the first full paragraph on page 14 or 38 of the decision.  It states:
"Board Staff's submission on the meaning of 'incurred' in section 624 and 624.1 suggest that the Board need not include any forecast amounts in the revenue requirement, but could permit recovery only when OPG has actually spent money on these activities.  The Board agrees with Staff's interpretation and would consider delaying recovery if there was little assurance that forecast amounts would actually be spent during the test period.  However, with the announcement by Infrastructure Ontario in June 2008 that OPG's Darlington property will be the site of a new nuclear plant, it is clear that OPG will incur substantial expenditures relating to the facilities during the test period.  Therefore, the Board accepts inclusion in the revenue requirement of all the OM&A amounts shown in table 2-5."

Do you see that?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, I do.

MR. MILLAR:  Then I think if you flip to the previous page, page 13 of the booklet, you actually see that table 2-5.  It is -- in fact, it is quoted from the decision.  It's page 37 of the decision, and the amounts were something in the nature of $75 million for 2008 and $67 million for 2009.

MR. BARRETT:  That's what the table shows.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And the Board allowed those amounts even though they hadn't yet been incurred; is that correct?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And of course Darlington -- the new build at Darlington did not end up going forward; is that correct?

MR. BARRETT:  Not on the time lines as we originally envisioned.

MR. MILLAR:  Is the new build going forward?

MR. BARRETT:  That's our expectation.

MR. MILLAR:  When do you anticipate that will happen?

MR. BARRETT:  I think it will depend upon the government's announcement.

MR. MILLAR:  To be clear, the Darlington refurbishment and the Darlington new build are separate projects; is that right?

MR. BARRETT:  Sorry, did I mis-respond to one of your questions?  Were you referring to new nuclear or the Darlington refurbishment?

MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry, if I said refurbishment, I misspoke.  I was speaking about, the project that was brought forward in the previous application I understood was a new build at Darlington.

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, that's right.

MR. MILLAR:  That's what those revenue requirement amounts were provided for?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, that's right.

MR. MILLAR:  And that project is not going forward?

MR. BARRETT:  The government has suspended the procurement process, but it is OPG's expectation - and we have given evidence in the filing - that we expect the procurement process to re-start.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  It's been delayed, then?

MR. BARRETT:  It's been delayed, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Just to be clear the Darlington refurbishment is a separate project?

MR. BARRETT:  Totally separate.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And had you begun to incur -- you had O&M forecast expenditures, as we discussed, of $75 million and $67 million.  Had you started to spend that before the project was put on hiatus?

MR. BARRETT:  I believe so.  Certainly there were expenditures in 2008 and 2009, and money continued to be spent in 2010.  We can turn to that part of the evidence if it is helpful.

MR. MILLAR:  I don't think that is necessary.  I guess my question on all of this is:  Should there be a lesson here for the Board with respect to including 53/05 project amounts that haven't yet been incurred?  Is there a danger when we --


MR. BARRETT:  No.  I think the Board landed in the right place last time.  Where there is an expectation that the monies will be spent, the sensible and pragmatic thing to do is include them in the revenue requirement, as we proposed.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So you wouldn't suggest any change in the way that the Board interprets the regulation vis-à-vis accepting forecast amounts versus amounts that are actually incurred?

MR. BARRETT:  No.  I think the Board landed in the right place.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Barrett.  Those are my questions.
Questions by the Board:


MS. HARE:  Mr. Barrett, on Friday you were having a discussion with Mr. Poch, and Mr. Poch asked you or actually made the statement that Darlington, as a preferable alternative, is untested in this case.  And you said, "I can't agree with you there".

Now, I would have thought that looking at Darlington as a preferable alternative would mean a comparison to all of the options available, both OPG projects and non-OPG projects, hydroelectric, solar, wind, all of the alternatives.

So can you point to the evidence and show me where that discussion of alternatives is?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.  There are two places, and we can go to them.  One is in the OPG economic feasibility analysis where we did a comparison against base load gas-fired generation.

And then if you look at the OPA's letter, they advised in that letter, if OPG's LUEC estimates were correct and accurate, then based on their information, it was a good base load alternative relative to the alternatives that we're aware of.

MS. HARE:  But base load gas is not the only alternative.  When you look at the economic assessment, that is not the only alternative that is available?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, I agree, and we're relying on the OPA's letter to deal with other alternatives.

MS. HARE:  Okay, thank you.

MR. BARRETT:  Maybe it would be helpful to turn that letter up.

MS. HARE:  Sorry, that is the letter that actually comments on what you sent them.

MR. BARRETT:  Well, what it says is, if we've got the economics right - and we say that we do - then based on its understanding of the other alternatives, it is a good project and they support it.

So it turns on or hinges on the economics, which is properly our burden in respect of that project.

So if you look at Exhibit F2, tab 2, schedule 3, attachment 2?  If you look at point 2, it says in the second sentence:
"If this proves to be the case..."

And that is with reference to our LUEC estimates:
"...the refurbishment of Darlington would be an economic alternative in comparison to the cost of other baseload resources."

So they have cast their mind to the alternatives and given us their advice on that matter, and they conclude that letter by saying that they support:
"Therefore, the OPA supports the refurbishment of the Darlington NGS based on expected electricity costs in the range of six to eight cents per kilowatt-hour."

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Barrett, if I can just follow up on Ms. Hare's general area, I think that -- or is my understanding correct that the Darlington refurbishment project will be subject to some sort of assessment under the Environmental Assessment Act?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.  That's my understanding.

MS. SPOEL:  And so would it be fair to say that regardless of what the Minister of Energy might think about whether the project is in the public interest, ultimately it is going to be up to the Minister of Environment to accept or not the environmental assessment for the project?

MR. BARRETT:  I think that follows, yes.

MS. SPOEL:  So it would be premature, then, to conclude that because the Minister of Energy considers this to be in the public interest, that it is, therefore, necessarily a go?

MR. BARRETT:  I think it is, as we have indicated, we have very high expectations that it will proceed, that we will pass all of the requirements, including the environmental assessment process.

So while the -- we have suggested that the Board attach significant weight to the Minister speaking on behalf of the province, which has endorsed the project.

I agree it is not the absolute final word in all respects.

MS. SPOEL:  Because in fact if it were, that would be kind of prejudging the outcome of the environmental assessment process?

MR. BARRETT:  I think that is fair.

MS. SPOEL:  So there are some other -- there are some hurdles that are outside your control and our control and the Minister of Energy's control, in fact?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, that's right.

MS. SPOEL:  All right.  Thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Barrett --


MR. BARRETT:  Yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  -- I would take you to -- well, it was K13.4.  I know it came from one of the interrogatory responses, and I am afraid I don't have the reference to that.  It was the table that the PWU submitted that also included the cumulative CWIP effects.  It is the year-by-year illustrative analysis.

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, I do have it.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  So there was a fair bit of discussion about that, but what I wanted to try and understand is, again, sort of how you would have us look at this.  And I am wondering if, because there's been discussion about the fact that the numbers -- the numbers that are known are not the same, they're not accurate in that sense, is this example primarily useful as sort of demonstrating what the pattern of recovery is, and the sort of relative levels of magnitude between the CWIP and the alternative?

MR. BARRETT:  I think that is fair.

MS. CHAPLIN:  And not much, maybe, turns on the absolute numbers?

MR. BARRETT:  Other than giving you a sense of the numbers, I wouldn't say they're precise, as I think I gave testimony.  This is a simplified, illustrative presentation of what we expect to happen.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  And would you say its primary value is in demonstrating the, as I say, the sort of order of magnitude of the collection of the costs in the CWIP proposal, and the timing of that as compared to the traditional recovery?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, that's right.  To me, the most powerful part of this presentation is looking at the non-CWIP or the traditional approach and seeing what will all be faced in 2019 or 2020 when that first unit comes into service, and the challenges that we will have there.

In response to some of the questioning from Friday, I did have an opportunity, actually, to speak to the analyst over the weekend who prepared this table.  And I now understand why the 2011 and 2012 numbers are different.

I would be happy to explain that, if that is helpful.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Sure.

MR. BARRETT:  Again, as part of his simplification, he did two things.  One, for purposes of calculating the annual amount, he used the opening capital.  So it wasn't an average rate base, which is the opening and closing.  It was just whatever the opening capital was, he used that for that year.  Then he rounded to the nearest $10 million.

And although I am always a little loath to undertake something, if it would be helpful to the Board, I would be prepared to undertake a reconciliation between the numbers in this table and the $37.9 million that we have put in evidence for the test period.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Well, I think that explanation is satisfactory.

Now, you have commented on how what you felt is particularly striking is what happens in 2019 and 2020 comparing the CWIP proposal to the current treatment.

But I'm wondering, another way to look at it is the absolute amounts at that point are relatively similar, are they not?  So one has -- I am looking at the $6 billion example.

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So that is -- under "current regulatory treatment" that is the 350 million.

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  But under the CWIP, it will be -- it will be 380 million?

MR. BARRETT:  That's right.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So in terms of absolutely what is being recovered from customers, it is not that different in that year, is it?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.  To me, the challenging aspect is that we moved from zero to 350 going into the revenue requirement in the case under the traditional approach, whereas under the CWIP approach, it would be moving from 220 to 380.  So it is just the delta from the prior year that gives rise to the rate shock concern.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  And then just following on from the questions of my colleagues, do you have handy -- and this is to do with sort of how we should be looking at this request within the broader requests around the Darlington refurbishment project -- do you have a copy of the report of the Board in EB-2009-0152?  That's the "Regulatory Treatment of Infrastructure," which I believe gave rise to your -- OPG's proposal.

MR. BARRETT:  I did have it with me on Friday, but I left it upstairs.  I think we have a copy down here.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Barrett, we have some here, if Ms. Reuber is having trouble finding them.

[Mr. Millar passes documents to Ms. Reuber.]

[Document passed to witness.]

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, I have it.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So I am -- let's see what the best place to take you to...

Well, for example, on page 21, and it lists a number of factors that the Board may consider in looking at an application for alternative treatment.

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  And then over on page 22, there's a section about 3.5, "Applying for Alternative Mechanisms," and it is around establishing project need, and...

Okay.  So my question is in looking at this -- and I think you also in your testimony compared it to large -- you are looking at this in the same way, and you feel it is analogous to a large transmission project; is that fair?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.  It is a large infrastructure project.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  And that, as I understand it, is the basis upon which OPG came to the conclusion that a similar type of treatment, that OPG itself should be eligible for the same sorts of treatments for its infrastructure projects as the transmission side?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.  I think it is a little bit broader than that.  We had read the report as being inclusive of OPG, and we'll obviously learn in this decision whether that was the right interpretation or not.

But we looked at the logic that the Board applied to supporting CWIP, and we find that that same logic and rationale applies to our project.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  And on that basis, would you expect that the -- that the type of issues or factors that we would -- the Board would consider would be similar to what it would look at in a leave-to-construct?  In terms of the financial side, not necessarily the physical side, but the financial side?

MR. BARRETT:  I think the consideration should be similar, yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  And would you think that there might be some guidance to be taken from the filing requirements on transmission and distribution projects around the scope and extent of the analysis of alternatives?  Is that something that you -- that OPG considered when it prepared its materials?

MR. BARRETT:  Not specifically the filing guidelines for leave-to-construct applications, but more generally the question of comparison of alternatives.

I guess two things came to mind when we had that consideration:  One, just our ability to do that comparison correctly and properly, given our lack of access to information about some of the other alternatives, and it wasn't clear to us that there would be necessarily a lot of acceptance of our analysis in that respect, anyway.

So that is why we relied on the OPA to look at our project relative to the information that it is aware of and give us its advice about whether or not it think it is a good project.

MS. CHAPLIN:  And are you familiar with the Bruce-to-Milton leave-to-construct proceeding, and the extent of the evidence that the OPA provided in that proceeding?

MR. BARRETT:  At a general level.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Can you help me with comparing the level of -- well, we have a letter in this case from the OPA --


MR. BARRETT:  Yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  -- versus in the Bruce-to-Milton where the OPA testified and provided quite extensive analysis that it originated.  Was that an avenue that you -- that OPG considered or explored for this proceeding?

MR. BARRETT:  It was.  We had a number of discussions with the OPA about leading evidence or providing witnesses in this case.  And where that landed in the end, at the end of the day, was their view that, well, let's see how things proceed.  Let's see how many questions we get.  Let's see how much interest there is in seeing OPA witnesses.

It was certainly my expectation that there would be a lot of interrogatories directed at the OPA, that there would be requests for the OPA to empanel witnesses, but those did not emerge in this proceeding.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  And there were some questions around comparing CWIP and part of the benefits being related to the timing of recovery and the early cash flows, but also the difference in terms of the actual amount that was collected, and sort of comparing that, under CWIP, you get the full weighted average cost of capital whereas the traditional recovery is only at the debt rate cost.

Do you recall some of that conversation?

MR. BARRETT:  I do, yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Now, did OPG consider the alternative of applying for sort of a full AFUDC-type approach to receive the full cost of capital for the funds that are used -- but still delay the recovery of those to when the project is in service, but to in fact sort of keep it whole in terms of the total cost, as between the two alternatives?

MR. BARRETT:  I would say, no, we didn't consider that, and primarily because that doesn't address the rate shock issue that we were concerned with.  In fact, that to some extent exacerbates that issue, because the capitalized amount would be somewhat larger.  But certainly we'll look at what the Board's decision is in this proceeding and that might guide our future actions.

We do have a concern with carrying a balance of capital in this project, if the Board doesn't find favour with the CWIP proposal, for many years.

That balance would be, you know, very -- you know, close to a billion or several billion dollars over the life of the project.  That's bigger than the rate bases of many of the utilities that are regulated in the province, and it would seem odd to us that they get a weighted average cost of capital on that rate base, where we're only getting the debt rate on that capital that we're carrying.

I mean, in effect, the company would be subsidizing the cost of the project under that context.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Well, I guess that is why I am asking you about the alternative of using a full AFUDC rate.

MR. BARRETT:  We hadn't considered it.  We still think CWIP is the better approach.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  And did you also consider whether or not it would be appropriate to bring the CWIP application in the context of when you had reached the stage of receiving your board of director release, so in the 2014 time frame?

MR. BARRETT:  No, we didn't consider that.  I think the challenge around waiting until 2014 is that you have lost an opportunity to have that smoothing effect on rates.  So you have kind of telescoped the CWIP period.

MS. CHAPLIN:  And sort of at the end of the day, would you say the two primary reasons that are being advanced are the smoothing effect and OPG's concerns around cash flow and recovering the cost of the funds used to support it?

Are they equally important in your mind?  Is one more important than the other?

MR. BARRETT:  I guess there are really three reasons in our mind, and there may be some subtleties between them.  The first one is the rate shock issue.  That is our primary concern.

We have experience with how difficult it can be to bring forward significant rate increases, and we wanted to avoid that.  And we accept that that is difficult for customers.

We have a concern about the impact on our credit metrics.  We acknowledge that we haven't been able to quantify that at this point, but we expect there to be a negative impact.

Then the third issue relates to the subsidy that we have discussed, the difference between the IDC rate and the AFUDC rate.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  Those are all of our questions.  Mr. Smith, do you have anything in re-examination?

MR. SMITH:  Just one moment.

No questions in re-examination.

MS. CHAPLIN:  All right, thank you.  Mr. Barrett, you are excused with our thanks, and we will see you again --


MR. BARRETT:  Shortly.

MS. CHAPLIN:  -- after the next panel.

MR. BARRETT:  Thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Poch, are you ready with Mr. Chernick?  Perhaps he could come forward to be sworn.

Mr. Chernick.
GREEN ENERGY COALITION - PANEL 1

Paul Chernick, Sworn
Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Poch:

MR. POCH:  Can you state your name for the record, Mr. Chernick?

MR. CHERNICK:  Paul Chernick.

MR. POCH:  And you are the author of Exhibit M7 in these proceedings, the evidence filed on behalf of Green Energy Coalition and the responses to interrogatories that are in the M7 series; correct?

MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  You adopt them as your sworn evidence in this proceeding?

MR. CHERNICK:  Yes, I do.

MR. POCH:  Your curriculum vitae is included, a brief version, at the start of that exhibit, and then your evidence from the 0905 case is appended to that exhibit, and an exhibit to that appendix is your longer CV.  I just wanted to touch on a couple of highlights of that.

I understand you have an SB, which I take it is a bachelor of science degree from MIT department of civil engineering; is that correct?

MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  A master's from MIT, as well?

MR. CHERNICK:  That's correct.

MR. POCH:  You were a utility analyst for the Massachusetts Office of the Attorney General until -- from your graduation until 1981, and you have been an independent consultant and currently president of Resource Insight Inc. since 1986; is that correct?

MR. CHERNICK:  That's correct.

MR. POCH:  And you indicate there that you have given -- you have testified in regulatory proceedings and utility issues over 200 times, including before regulators in Ontario, Alberta, Manitoba, Nova Scotia, British Columbia, 30 US states, as well as two US federal agencies; is that correct?

MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  I see you list some 11 occasions when you have testified as an expert before the OEB; is that correct?

MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  And your full CV is over 40 pages.  I won't take you through it.  Can I ask you to confirm you published numerous article and made presentations on a range of regulatory mechanics issues?

MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  And that your clients in regulatory proceedings have ranged from attorneys generals of several states of regulatory board staffs, state-appointed public advocates and other state departments, as well as consumer, commercial, and industrial customers, environmental groups, and utilities and power producers?

MR. CHERNICK:  That's correct.

MR. POCH:  All right.  And you were found eligible to offer expert opinion evidence in the previous hearing, the 0905 OPG proceeding?

MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  Have you previously been involved in regulatory proceedings involving CWIP and other issues of cost recovery patterns over time?

MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.  A number of times, particularly during the heyday of nuclear construction in the United States in the 1980s, and some of those cases included CWIP prior to plant operation, and I may periodically slip and pronounce that as CWIP.

While others dealt with deferral of cost recovery after plant operation to better match the cost recovery pattern with the pattern of benefits from the plant.

MR. POCH:  And anticipating my friend might have a heightened interest in your independence as a witness, can you tell us what you were asked to do in this case?

MR. CHERNICK:  I was asked to review the filed OPG evidence on CWIP, including Mr. Luciani's report, and evaluate that evidence in the light of the effect on ratepayers, on planning and regulation, and particularly in light of the Board's report in EB-2009-0152.

MR. POCH:  And apart from the particulars, quite apart from the particulars of this case, did you have any pre-existing viewpoint about CWIP?

MR. CHERNICK:  Well, in general, I think it is not a good idea.  There are some circumstances in which the alternatives are worse and it is justified, but in terms of matching benefits to costs so that the beneficiaries pay for the services they're getting, it usually is counterproductive.

MR. POCH:  All right.  Madam Chair, I would ask that Mr. Chernick be found eligible to offer expert opinion evidence in this proceeding on the matters he has given testimony.

MR. SMITH:  That's fine.  I have no questions.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  Thank you, that's fine.

MR. POCH:  Thank you.  Mr. Chernick, do you have any updates to your evidence?

MR. CHERNICK:  Yes, just on one point.

In my evidence on page 7, lines 6 to 8, I say that the Board rejected requests for return on CWIP for three projects of Hydro One beyond the Niagara reinforcement in their 2006 rate proceeding.  And, quote:

"Hydro One does not appear to have requested CWIP for them since."

And I make the same point on page 21, lines 3 to 4:
"In its current application..."

That is EB-2010-0002:

"...Hydro One has reapplied for CWIP on one of those projects, the Bruce transmission reinforcement."

That project is projected to be in-service within the test period for the rate application, although late in the period.  And it falls at least partially within the Board's criterion that I discuss at the bottom of page 10 of my testimony, the criterion of integrating projects for others.

In that case, the integration is of a number of non-utility wind projects and Bruce Power's nuclear generation.

And at least the wind portion of that need for the line seems to be exactly the sort of Green Energy Act-related project and resource that the Board focussed on in the report, again, in the section that I quote on page 10 of my evidence.

MR. POCH:  All right.  I have a couple of questions about matters that have come up in the course of the hearing.

The Board asked Mr. Luciani about the regulatory context of CWIP approvals in the United States, specifically if they were generally in conjunction with approvals of the projects or findings of need and public convenience.

Can you offer any advice on that?

MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.  Although the jurisdictions all vary and we have at least 52 local jurisdictions in addition to the -- to FERC, in most cases that I am familiar with, CWIP -- a return on CWIP is dependent on findings of need for a particular project and on the prudence of the expenditures, a forward-looking prudence evaluation.

And the determination of need and of public benefits are also criteria the Board has established in determining whether the transmission and distribution utilities would be eligible for CWIP.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  And that latter reference to the Board, you're referring to this Board in its decision --


MR. CHERNICK:  Yes, in the report, the -2009-0152 report.

MR. POCH:  That being so, having regard to OPG's evidence on the Darlington refurbishment in this proceeding, can you comment on OPG's case for an endorsement of its Darlington refurbishment plan, compared to what would typically be considered by a regulatory board being asked to approve CWIP?

MR. CHERNICK:  Well, as I pointed out in my written evidence, OPG has really made no case for the public benefit of the project in comparison to non-OPG options.

And that is something that I would expect.  I would hope the Board would expect to see in any proposal that was seeking a finding that the project was reasonable, or that it was in the public interest.

And I think if this were a T&D project, from one of the utilities covered by the Board's report, that was applying for CWIP, just that kind of demonstration would be necessary.

While OPG hasn't done any real analysis of alternatives, non-OPG alternatives to the refurbishment, the company did file a letter from OPA, which -- as I think Mr. Barrett summarized fairly accurately a few minutes ago -- basically just quoted back to OPG its own assumptions about the economics of the plant, and didn't reflect any new OPA analysis since the IPSP, a document that OPG also cites as a basis for the public benefits of the project.  And the estimates of nuclear cost in the IPSP have been proven overly optimistic by subsequent events.  That IPSP process never reached the stage where there was any public testing or regulatory testing of the proposed projects in comparison with other options.

It is now clearly an obsolete document, because so many commitments have been made and projects have been built, and the new information on nuclear costs has come in.

And the estimates of nuclear generating and operating costs and availability by OPG and its predecessor have generally been overly optimistic in the past, and it would be unreasonable to assume that they've -- that they're accurate for this project, without some specific and detailed review.

And that is complicated by, or compounded, I suppose, by the company's failure to break out a realistic cost of capital for its nuclear operations, especially for a new nuclear project or a major refurbishment.

And just to, again, put the nuclear cost estimation and prudence in perspective, in reviewing the IPSP, as I say in my evidence, the team that I was part of - I was lead for, actually - performed a very detailed analysis of nuclear versus non-nuclear alternatives, and we concluded that nuclear refurbishments were not part of the least cost plan.

MR. POCH:  All right.  Now, you were present in the room a few moments ago when there was a discussion between Mr. Barrett and the Panel about the implications of the PWU cross exhibit, which I understand was based on interrogatory response L-14-4, and the differences between those -- that stream of numbers and the values OPG has provided for the period up to -- I guess up to 2014.  I think just for the record, the references there are -- the 2011-2012 numbers are available from D2-2, table 1 and the, I think, $135 million value, roughly, is -- for the years 2013 and 2014 is from Exhibit L-10-13.

Do you have any comments arising from that exchange?

MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.  Just to see how material those differences might be, I tried dropping the company's projections for 2011 and 2012 into the spreadsheet from, actually, the Power Workers' cross exhibit in place of the $10 million annual value that was portrayed there, and then I increased the 2013 and 2014 numbers proportionally to add up to the $145 million that OPG had estimated in its discovery response, and then just assumed that the amount that this cumulative analysis was off by in 2014, that annual discrepancy or variance, that that continued.  There were no further upward movements of the data.

By the time that you get to 2020 and the first unit entering service, the cumulative cost is about $300 million higher, just with the short-term adjustments in that exhibit, than it is in the discovery response L-14-4 that the company provided.

So that is a substantial effect.  The ratepayers would have paid an extra $300 million by the time you get to 2020 above what is shown in that exhibit.

And by comparison, we're talking, as I think the Chair noted, about something like a $350 million annual revenue requirement for the project in the first year of operation under traditional ratemaking.  So we are talking about, like, an extra year's worth of revenue requirements before the plant comes on line, in addition to the numbers that you were looking at as you were reviewing the Power Workers' exhibit with Mr. Barrett.

MR. POCH:  All right.  Now, moving on to the separate capital structure issue, separate capital structures from the two divisions, did you have an opportunity to review the transcript of Ms. McShane's testimony where she touched on that, and Messrs. Roberts and Kryzanowski?

MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  Do you have any comments on any new matters that arose in the course of that discussion?

MR. SMITH:  Members of the Panel, I do have a concern about this line of examination.  This is an area that is referred to in Mr. Chernick's prefiled evidence, and what he says about it is that while he continues to hold the views that he had the last go-round, he has not conducted any additional analysis and will leave it to others to speak to the issue.

Having taken that position in the prefiled evidence, I don't think it is open to my friend to, in effect, back-door the evidence by saying, having heard some evidence in this case now, would you like to comment on it?

I think if he had wished to lead evidence in respect of separate cost of capital, he had an obligation to put forward some new evidence on the point, and then perhaps we would be in a different position, but that is not of course what has happened here.

MR. POCH:  Well, Madam Chair, Mr. Chernick has filed evidence on this matter.  He has filed his previous evidence, and an update to that evidence which expands on it and puts it into the context of the current situation with Darlington.

I am asking him to comment on new matters that have arisen in the course of the proceeding, which is --


MS. CHAPLIN:  Can you show us in his current -- I'm aware of the testimony he submitted in the last proceeding.

MR. POCH:  Yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  For this proceeding, I'm sorry, can you remind me where in here he addresses the issue of cost of capital and two separate structures?

MR. POCH:  Yes.  That begins on page 31 of the current evidence.

MS. CHAPLIN:  He explains that he has not done estimates for this proceeding.

MR. POCH:  He has not done estimates, and he refers to some values there and talks about -- and specifically talks about the relevance of the issue to the estimates OPG has provided in this proceeding for its LUEC, for the Darlington refurbishment.

In a sense, this is -- the evidence Mr. Chernick is presenting here is tying together these two issues, if you will.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So it is in the context of the economic evaluation of the Darlington refurbishment?

MR. POCH:  That's correct and...

MS. CHAPLIN:  So was the question you were intending to ask him in relation directly to that, or more generally with respect to the matters that were specifically raised and testified to by Ms. McShane and Drs. Kryzanowski and Roberts?

MR. POCH:  I was going to -- I was asking him the general question just about comments arising from the matters, new matters, that were raised by Ms. McShane and Messrs. Kryzanowski and Roberts in the facts of this case.

And, specifically, I was concerned that Ms. McShane basically filed evidence which went so far; basically, said the statistics don't work, and then in oral evidence went further and critiqued the approach that Messrs. -- Drs. Kryzanowski and Roberts took.

And I wanted Mr. Chernick to respond to the new evidence of Ms. McShane, which we did not have access to when I asked Mr. Chernick to file written evidence in this case.

So I am just giving him an opportunity to respond to that.  I would think that is in the ordinary course, Madam Chair.

MR. SMITH:  Well, there are two problems with it.

The first is, in some sense, this is similar to the issue the Board had to deal with when it dealt with the evidence that Board Staff had filed, in that it is not appropriate to put a witness forward who hasn't dealt with a particular issue in their examination in-chief, and then have them comment generally on other evidence.

Secondarily, unless my friend plans on putting my examination-in-chief of Ms. McShane to Mr. Chernick, which he would not have had, I do have a concern, because all of the other evidence would have arisen through cross-examination, not by OPG.

In other words, he would like Mr. Chernick to comment on evidence Ms. McShane gave directly in response to cross-examination from other parties.

I don't think he is relieved from the obligation to prefile on a point if the evidence comes from someone else's cross-examination.

MR. POCH:  Well, Madam Chair, I don't have the transcript in front of me, but I am reasonably certain from memory that the issue I am asking Mr. Chernick to respond to, basically, Ms. McShane saying that is just mere judgment.  It was dealt with in her examination-in-chief by my friend.

[Board Panel confer]

MS. CHAPLIN:  The Board is -- will allow the question, and -- but as long as it is only to the extent which is testimony by Ms. McShane that was new and had not been covered in her prefiled testimony.

MR. POCH:  I fear we are all going to be -- this is going to very much be an anti-climax, because it was just the one -- I was just asking for his general comment on that issue that --


MS. CHAPLIN:  I guess it would also be a caution to Mr. Chernick to answer on the basis of which it is being asked, and not to launch into a more general critique of Ms. McShane's testimony.

MR. POCH:  All right.  Mr. Chernick, I think you've heard all of that.  Do you have a comment?

MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.  I just want to say I think that there is -- seemed to be, as I read the transcript, there seemed to be general agreement among the Pollution Probe panel, Ms. McShane and myself that the nuclear division does have higher risk than the hydro division, and that underestimating risk in corporate planning can lead to inappropriate decisions.

But then Ms. McShane had two issues with that that I would like to comment on.

One was that she expressed her concern that there is just not enough statistical basis to precisely set the spread between the hydro and nuclear capital structures.

And on that point, I have to say that any regulatory determination -- in this case that risk differential -- requires judgment, and that fact in itself does not lead to the conclusion that zero is the best number for the value, when we know that zero isn't the right number and that zero's wrong in a particular direction.  We know the number is bigger than zero.

And setting capital structure in particular requires regulatory judgment, especially for this company, with an inherently hypothetical cost of capital.

So it is better to do something than to throw up your hands and say:  Well, we don't know exactly the right number, so we're just going to give up.

In Ms. McShane's oral evidence, she also raised the issue that the spread between the nuclear and hydro capital structures might not practically be very large, given -- if the Board is tied to the aggregate statistics, the equity cost and the combined capital structure that it has been using, since you can't reduce the cost of capital for the hydro division beyond some point.  Clearly, it has a cost of capital higher than the return on a savings account.

And even if that turns out to be a limiting factor, the Board really shouldn't let the perfect be the enemy of the good here, and should apply a reasonable return differential, considering all of those factors, including that there is a constraint on how far down you can move the hydro return.

MR. POCH:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

Mr. Stephenson?  I believe you are going first?

MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Stephenson:


MR. STEPHENSON:  Good morning, Mr. Chernick.  My name is Richard Stephenson.  I am counsel for the Power Workers' Union.

As I understood your answer to Mr. Poch this morning on the question of what were you asked to do, I took it that you -- there were two main components of what you were asked to do.  And let me stop here.

All of my questions for you this morning are related to the CWIP issue, as distinct from the cost of capital aspect of your report.

So on CWIP, I understand that you indicated that, number one, you reviewed OPG's prefiled evidence and obviously considered that; correct?

MR. CHERNICK:  That's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Then secondarily, you assessed that evidence essentially in relation to the criteria set out in the Board Report, EB-2009-0152; is that fair?

MR. CHERNICK:  Well, those are certainly two of the things that I did.  There were other criteria that I applied, and that are discussed in my evidence.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  But I mean those are the two things you indicated specifically to Mr. Poch this morning; fair?

MR. CHERNICK:  Well, I think I have listed some other perspectives other than simply applying the Board's report.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.

MR. CHERNICK:  So I would say everything you just described were -- would be part of my charge in this case, but I undertook to do more than that and I think I did more than that.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Let me take you to your report for a moment.

And after we get through the introduction, you really start on page 5; fair?

MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And the first section you have is under heading A:  "Precedent and Incentives."

Do you see that?

MR. CHERNICK:  Mm-hmm.  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And you carry on for a number of pages, certainly through to page 11, on the issue of precedent; fair?

MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And the precedent that you were referring to there is the precedent established by this Board; correct?

MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And I take it that essentially what you are referring to there are -- number one would be the Board's decision vis-à-vis Hydro One, and then secondarily, the Board's report in -2009-0152; fair?

MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Now, am I right, you do not profess any particular expertise, and certainly no greater expertise than the Board, at interpreting and applying the Board's own decisions; is that fair?

MR. CHERNICK:  Well, the Board obviously knows what it means.  When you say "applying" that often requires some technical perspective, and so I and other technical experts might very well have things to contribute to the Board in terms of what their standard would mean in this situation.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.

MR. CHERNICK:  Or how they ought to look at this situation, given the guidance that they've laid down.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.

MR. CHERNICK:  So I would say I half-agree with your question.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And to the extent you have outlined the technical assistance that you are applying vis-à-vis the Board's precedents in pages 5 through 11, that is where we will find it; fair?  In your report itself, pages 5 to 11?

MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.

Now, can I just take you to page 9 of your report?  The question that you respond to appears -- that I am concerned about appears at line 15.  The question is:

"In what context does the EB-2009-0152 Report consider allowing return on CWIP?"

And your response is as follows:

"The Report indicates that the Board will, on a case-by-case basis, consider applications by transmission and distribution companies to include CWIP projects related to the Green Energy Act."


Then you include a quote; correct?

MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  That is not accurate, is it?  That is not what the report says.

MR. CHERNICK:  Well, I quote extensively from the report and I think that is -- that is what the report says, clearly.  There are also a couple of phrases, like the one at the bottom of page 9 of my evidence, that says that alternative mechanisms should be available potentially in appropriate circumstances in relation to other types of investments, which could mean almost anything, and, basically, to my mind, is the way that a regulator leaves the door open to considering other things in the future, if somebody comes up with a reason for it.

But the only specific circumstances that are discussed have to do with the Green Energy Act and transmission and distribution utilities.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Well, can I get you to turn up page 13 of the report itself?  Do you have a copy of it handy?

MR. CHERNICK:  I do.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And I am going to suggest to you, sir, that the Board specifically contemplates that this treatment -- it will consider and potentially apply this treatment to entities other than transmitters and distributors.

If I can just take you to the paragraph at the bottom of page 13, you will see there, it says:
"Typically Green Energy Act related investments relate to investments by electricity distributors and transmitters to accommodate connection of renewable generation or to develop and implement a smart grid."

Next sentence:
"However, the Board will consider applications for one or more alternative mechanisms for any Green Energy Act related investment provided that the investment is undertaken by an entity..."


Do you see that word?
"...as a part of its rate-regulated activity.  References in this report to 'utilities' should be construed accordingly."


Do you see that, sir?

MR. CHERNICK:  Yes, I see that.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Don't you agree with me, sir, that the Board is specifically in this passage contemplating the application to entities other than transmitters and distributors?

MR. CHERNICK:  Well, as you said, the Board is in the best position to know what it meant when it wrote that.  And you and I could go through a Biblical exegesis of the terminology and why the Board put the words in this order and not in some other order.  And certainly you can read a lot into a phrase, or less, and the Board really knows best about this.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.

MR. CHERNICK:  However, I direct you to the cover of the report, which says that it has to do with regulatory treatment of infrastructure investment in connection with the rate-regulated activities of distributors and transmitters in Ontario.  It doesn't say anything about "and other utilities."

And a letter that the Board posted last Thursday on its website regarding renewed regulatory framework for electricity referring apparently to this report says:
"The Board has already indicated that it is willing to consider, on a case-by-case basis, alternative approaches and rate treatments to facilitate network investments related to the GEA objectives."


I read this report as primarily saying we're talking about T&D.  We're talking about Green Energy Act-related investments.  It is possible somebody will come to us with something else, but there is really nothing in this report about those hypothetical something elses.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Here is all I want from you, Mr. Chernick.  I assume you wrote this report to assist the Board in its understanding of this issue; fair?

MR. CHERNICK:  That's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  When you were asked the question about in what context does it allow this, considering allowing a return on CWIP, you explicitly limit it to transmission and distribution, and you don't even provide the Board with the passage where the Board contemplates a broader application, do you?

MR. CHERNICK:  Well, as I pointed out, at the bottom of page 9 of my evidence, I have that phrase "potentially in appropriate circumstances in relation to other types of investments", which seems to be a statement parallel to the entity's quotation that you read into the record earlier.

MR. STEPHENSON:  But your long passage doesn't include my passage about entities other than transmission and distribution; fair?

MR. POCH:  I'm sorry, Madam Chair, if my friend is going to put a passage to him, I think it appropriate that my friend note the passage he is putting to him specifically says "alternative mechanisms for any Green Energy Act related investment."

I think this whole line of cross seems to be proceeding on a partial reading of the Board's decision.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Poch, he did read the entire quote to him and asked him to respond, so please proceed.

MR. STEPHENSON:  All I am asking you to concede - and I think you now conceded, although your report doesn't - is that the act specifically contemplates this treatment will be potentially available to entities other than transmitters and distributors.  You agree with me the report does that; correct?

MR. CHERNICK:  Well, I am trying to understand what -- you seem to be asking me to correct something in my evidence, and I don't see what I said in my evidence that was wrong.

As I said before, you can read these statements of the Board that we haven't locked the door for other kinds of projects and maybe other kinds of rate-regulated companies related to the Green Energy Act.

You can read that in a variety of ways, but that it really -- in the sense of leaving the door open a crack as opposed to indicating clearly, as I say on page 9, that the Board will on a case-by-case basis consider applications by transmission and distribution utilities to include CWIP for projects related to the Green Energy Act.

The report says that clearly.  It says some other things which could be read as indicating the door is not completely closed to other kinds of things, mostly in the context of the Green Energy Act and not completely clear whether there is a non-Green Energy Act thread in the report.

As I said, we can argue about why the Board put a sentence where it did and not some place else for thousands of years, if you'd like, but there is really no point since we have the Board sitting here.

MR. STEPHENSON:  That is the one thing we certainly can agree on, which is the Board knows what it meant; fair?

MR. CHERNICK:  I would hope so.

MR. STEPHENSON:  In a way that neither you nor I do?

MR. CHERNICK:  And they will decide what they meant.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I provided by e-mail yesterday, and I provided hard copies this morning, a document which is a letter from Mr. Poch dated June 26th, 2009 to the Board regarding the consultation which led to EB-2009-0152.

MR. MILLAR:  Certainly.  Exhibit K14.1, the letter from Mr. Poch to the Board, dated June 26th, 2009.
EXHIBIT NO. K14.1:  LETTER FROM MR. POCH TO THE BOARD, DATED JUNE 26TH, 2009.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And Mr. Chernick, I am not sure whether you had any involvement in this at all.  Maybe I should ask you that question.

Did you have any involvement in this letter being prepared or sent?

MR. CHERNICK:  No, I did not.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  But in any event, it is fair to say, isn't it -- you have had an opportunity now to look at the letter?  It is only one page.

MR. CHERNICK:  Yes, I looked at it when you sent it out.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And am I right that what's going on here is Mr. Poch is responding on behalf of his client -- your sponsor in -- of your evidence here today; correct?

MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And what he is doing is responding to a comment made by the Board Chair on a particular occasion, whereby the Board Chair had indicated that there was at least the potential that the CWIP -- these alternative recovery mechanisms might be available for other types of energy projects.

Do you see that comment?

MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.  I don't actually have the document in front of me at the moment, but my recollection is that the Chairman's statement was ambiguous as to the range of projects covered.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And I am not going to dwell on this, but the import of Mr. Poch's letter, so far as I understand, was in the last sentence, he said:

"Should the Board adopt such mechanisms, we urge the Board explicitly to limit the application of any such mechanisms to the transmission and distribution sector."

Do you see that?

MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And that was specifically and expressly in contrast to OPG nuclear generation projects; correct?

MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And we can agree that the Board had this comment as a part of the consultation that led to its report; fair?

MR. CHERNICK:  Well, it is dated six months before the report.  So I assume that they had it.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Yes, okay.  Thank you.

Let me just talk generally to you for a moment about the -- your concern about the CWIP in rate base proposal.

I take it that one of your primary difficulties with the proposal is the fact that consumers, customers, wind up paying for the cost of some projects before those projects are used, used and useful, and before the customers get the benefit of them; fair?

MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And that concern or criticism of CWIP in rate base, that is, shall I say, a general cause for concern for you.  That is intrinsic in the nature of this mechanism, and isn't specific to the OPG proposal in this case; fair?

MR. CHERNICK:  That's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  So you would agree with me that –- and again, only the Board knows -- but it would be difficult to imagine the Board approving, in principle, the availability of this kind of mechanism, without having reconciled in its own mind the fact that there will be circumstances where, notwithstanding the general problem about that, it may well be appropriate; fair?

MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.  And it lays out those standards in the report.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And so -- but to the extent you -- those concerns about used and useful and about front-end loading exist, those are, shall I say, generic concerns as distinct from concerns vis-à-vis this project; fair?

MR. CHERNICK:  Yes, that's true.  That's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And you also go on in your report -- I just want to make sure I have –- oh, you also talk about intergenerational equity concerns.  That is just another, in a sense, another way of saying the same concern, isn't it?  That you are going to have different sets of ratepayers potentially paying than receiving the benefit?  That is the intergenerational equity concern that you identified?

MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.  They're not exactly the same thing, but they are closely related.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Again, that is a generic problem with respect to CWIP in rate base?

MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And then in your report -- let me get it -- you talk about you wouldn't have so much of a problem with the CWIP in rate base if the costs associated with CWIP in rate base were going to go in -- were going to be experienced by consumers at a time where rates were otherwise going down, or at least where they weren't facing other material rate pressures; is that a fair comment, a fair characterization of your concern?

MR. CHERNICK:  Well, in particular with regard to the timing of the costs in the -- under traditional ratemaking, if -- given the circumstances of this proposal, if the Board expected rates to be low and stable and maybe even declining over the next decade for Ontario ratepayers as a whole, considering all of those components that they pay, and saw that after 2020 a lot of bills were going to start coming due and costs were going to go up, then having a general policy of moving costs forward where -- that there was some other regulatory reason to do so, of accelerating depreciation and amortization, where that is reasonably within the Board's judgment, that might make sense to mitigate a rate shock, a dislocation kind of problem on a provincial scale 10 years out.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And for the Board's assistance, I think this is contained at page 28 and 29 of your evidence, this discussion.  Am I right there?

MR. CHERNICK:  Well, I think the principle is laid out on page 27, lines 13 through 19, and then I --


MR. STEPHENSON:  Apply it?

MR. CHERNICK:  -- I look at whether it -- this appears to apply in this particular case, and -- on pages 28 and 29.

And I don't see any evidence for that.  And I believe the CME evidence indicated that a number of costs were going to be coming into rates in Ontario in the next several years, sort of bolstering my concerns.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  And you have particularly –- I mean, you identify a number of items, and they're all there and I am not going to list them all.  But amongst the items you identify are, for example, the costs associated with the feed-in tariff projects.

You see that?

MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Which will directionally tend to increase prices; correct?

MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Similarly, you have identified the coal shutdown, which will be directionally, again, increasing prices; correct?

MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And would you agree with me -- and I don't know whether you know -- but I mean certainly the impacts, those price pressures related to the feed-in tariff and to the coal plants and maybe a number of the other, those have been known in Ontario for a period of time, certainly prior to this year, prior to 2010; correct?

MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.  Well, what is known changes over time, but many of these items have been known, at least directionally or conceptually, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And since the Board published the 2009-0152 report in January of 2010, I mean, isn't it fair to say the Board would have been aware of that environment at the point in time that it chose to put this policy out into the field?

MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  So it chose to make available this alternative regulatory treatment at a point in time when it was -- I mean, to be fair -- fully aware of the fact that there was a challenging rate environment, and certainly not one where rates were -- the prevailing direction was down?

MR. CHERNICK:  Yes, I think that is correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Those are my questions.  Thank you, Mr. Chernick.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Stephenson.

We will take the morning break now, for 15 minutes.

--- Recess taken at 10:28 a.m.


--- On resuming at 10:51 a.m.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.

Mr. Smith, whenever you are ready.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Smith:


MR. SMITH:  Mr. Chernick, do you have your report handy?

MR. CHERNICK:  I do.

MR. SMITH:  And I am just going to ask you to turn to the, about the fourth-last page of the package.  So this is actually your evidence from the last proceeding.  Do you have that?  It is page 10 of your direct testimony in EB-2007-0905.

MR. CHERNICK:  I have that.

MR. SMITH:  And at the top of the page, you were asked a question:
"Do you believe that Ms. McShane's estimate of the cost of capital for OPG's hydro operations is reasonable?"


And you say:
"While I have not attempted to independently verify Ms. McShane's estimate, it seems reasonable."


Do you see that?

MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  You are aware that in the prior proceeding Ms. McShane estimated that the capital structure associated with the hydro operations was between 45 and 50 percent equity; correct?

MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  Mr. Poch?

MR. POCH:  Madam Chair, I have no questions.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Chernick.  You are excused with the Board's thanks.  I believe the next panel is panel 10B, taxes and deferral and variance account.

MR. POCH:  With your leave, I will take my leave as I am not involved in this panel.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Certainly.

MR. POCH:  Thank you.

MR. SMITH:  Members of the Panel, if I could please call forward Mr. Barrett, Mr. Alex Kogan, Mr. David Halperin and Mr. Robin Heard.  I believe that of the four aforementioned individuals, only Mr. Kogan remains to be sworn.  Mr. Heard was sworn and adopted his evidence, and then pushed to this panel.  So if Mr. Kogan could be sworn?
ONTARIO POWER GENERATION - PANEL 10B


Andrew Barrett, Sworn Previously


David Halperin, Sworn Previously


Robin Heard, Sworn Previously


Alex Kogan, Sworn

Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Smith:


MR. SMITH:  Mr. Kogan, I understand that you are the manager, regulatory finance for OPG?

MR. KOGAN:  Yes, I am.

MR. SMITH:  And you are responsible for regulatory accounting and reporting?

MR. KOGAN:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And the maintenance of regulatory accounting policies?

MR. KOGAN:  That's true.

MR. SMITH:  I understand that you have been with OPG since 2006?

MR. KOGAN:  Yes, I have been.

MR. SMITH:  And prior to that, you were employed by the accounting firm, Deloitte & Touche?

MR. KOGAN:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  I understand that you are a chartered accountant?

MR. KOGAN:  Yes, I am.

MR. SMITH:  As well as a certified public accountant in the state of Illinois?

MR. KOGAN:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  I understand that you are here to testify in respect of OPG's variance and deferral account evidence; is that correct?

MR. KOGAN:  Yes.  Yes, it is.

MR. SMITH:  Do you adopt that evidence for the purposes of testifying today?

MR. KOGAN:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And, similarly, were you involved in the preparation of responses to interrogatories in respect of that evidence?

MR. KOGAN:  Yes, I was.

MR. SMITH:  Do you adopt those responses for the purposes of testifying today?

MR. KOGAN:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  Just a few questions in examination in-chief, Members of the Panel, that I will direct to Mr. Barrett.

Mr. Barrett, as you will know, OPG filed an update on October 8th to its evidence, to its deferral and variance account evidence.  Can you describe the purpose of that update?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.  There were really three purposes.

First, as previously indicated, in response to interrogatory L-1-142, part (c), OPG has provided updated information on its projected December 31, 2010 deferral and variance account balances to reflect actual experience during 2010.

Secondly, to respond to expressed concerns by intervenors, OPG has modified its clearance proposal for these accounts to provide for the balances to be audited.

And, third, following from the impact statement, Exhibit N, tab 1, schedule 1, OPG is requesting approval to establish a pension and other post employment benefits, or OPEB, variance account, and these changes are described in Exhibit H1, tab 1, schedule 2, and some accompanying tables.

MR. SMITH:  Just dealing with the update to the deferral and variance account information, can you just highlight any changes or main changes to that evidence?

MR. BARRETT:  I can.  The main changes to the projected balances of the nuclear accounts are to the Bruce lease net revenues variance account and the nuclear development variance account.  In both cases, the credit balance owing to ratepayers is expected to increase.

The change in the Bruce lease net revenues variance account is primarily due to the fact that the actual year-to-date earnings on the nuclear segregated funds are higher than budgeted.  This is partly offset by an update to the valuation of the derivative embedded in the terms of the Bruce lease agreement.

The change to the projected balance in the nuclear development variance account is due to lower than expected expenditures associated with the new nuclear initiative at Darlington.

There are also small changes in the nuclear fuel cost variance account, the Bruce lease net revenues variance account and the nuclear over-/under-recovery variance account to reflect an updated projection for 2010 nuclear production.

The main changes to the projected balances for the regulated hydroelectric accounts are to the hydroelectric water conditions account, and to the ancillary services net revenue variance account.  These changes result primarily from lower water conditions than originally anticipated, and lower than budgeted operating reserve and automatic generation control revenues.

MR. SMITH:  Now, I understand there are certain minor corrections and adjustments that were made.  Are those reflected in the evidence that's been updated and filed?

MR. BARRETT:  They are, and I will just explain that.

The updated balance is correct for the inadvertent omission from the capacity refurbishment variance account of variances related to expenditures for the fuel channel life management project and the use of the incorrect actual production figures in the calculations of transactions to the nuclear fuel cost variance account, Bruce lease net revenue variance account and the nuclear over-/under-recovery and interim period shortfall variance accounts.

Finally, there is an adjustment to the projected balance in the income and other taxes variance account relating to an unburned nuclear fuel expense adjustment resulting from the resolution of matters pertaining to the audit of OPG's 1999 taxation year.

MR. SMITH:  Are you proposing any new variance accounts, sir, and, if so, what?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.  In the impact statement, we proposed a pension and other post employment benefits variance account.  You recall -- or the Board may recall, rather, that OPG proposed a similar, but somewhat narrower, account in its last payment amounts application, and that proposal was denied by the Board.

I read the Board's decision to say essentially that OPG should come back if the potential for material variances and pension and OPEB becomes a real issue, and that is the reason we're back here today with the account.

As indicated in the impact statement filed by OPG on September 30th, 2010 - that is the previously referenced Exhibit N, tab 1, schedule 1, pages 2 to 4 - the difference between the forecast included in this application for pension and OPEB costs and the updated projection of pension and OPEB costs prepared by our external actuary is material.

In light of this changing situation and considering the OEB's findings in a Hydro One proceeding earlier this year, in which a similar account was approved, OPG is proposing to establish an account to track, for its prescribed facilities, the differences between actual pension and OPEB costs booked using the actuarial accounting assessments provided by OPG's external actuaries, and the forecast of pension and OPEB costs included in the OEB-approved payment amounts.  And this account would be brought forward for clearance in the next hearing.

MR. SMITH:  Just a couple of final questions.

First, about energy efficiency, you might recall back, the very first panel there were some questions from Mr. Millar about energy efficiency initiatives, and I would ask you to specifically comment about what energy efficiency initiatives, if any, OPG has undertaken on its nuclear business.

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.  I guess there are two things.  The company has had a long history of looking at energy efficiency in its plants.  Those are the biggest loads within the company, so we have done a lot of work in the plants.


More recently, if you look at page 43 of the OPG 2009 sustainable development report -- and that is a report that Mr. Millar referenced earlier -- you will see that nuclear did some important maintenance and upgrade work during 2009 during its planned outages, and this work was directed towards enhancing reactor efficiency and performance, among other things.


MR. SMITH:  And can you just tell me what is the impact on non-IESO charges of that work?


MR. BARRETT:  I think it is important to distinguish work that we do to improve the efficiency of our production, that is, taking the fuel and converting it to electricity, which certainly has significant benefits for the company and ratepayers, from work that we do to reduce the electricity consumed in our plants, which we would refer to as energy efficiency improvements.


Those energy efficiency improvements would reduce the IESO non-energy charges, because it would reduce the amount of takings of electricity from the grid.


MR. SMITH:  And just finally, sir, I understand -- you will recall that on the corporate costs panel, Ms. Irvine testified in respect of some communications with the Agency Review Panel, and I understand that OPG has additional information that it wishes to provide in respect of those communications.


Can you just, please, advise the Board of that information?


MR. BARRETT:  Sure.  I just wanted to make it clear that OPG and twice before the Agency Review Panel, and OPG's -- as part of one of these meetings, OPG's chair met with the then-Minister of Energy on December 11th, 2007 to discuss OPG's response to the Agency Review Panel's phase 1 report on executive compensation matters.


This is the meeting at which OPG was advised that the province was satisfied with its response to the Arnett report.


I think Ms. Irvine testified that it was her recollection that this assurance was provided at an earlier meeting with the Arnett panel.


Finally, just as a related note, beginning on March 31, 2008 and in subsequent years, OPG has posted to its website a report on executive compensation.  That report includes a section on how OPG responded to and was compliant with the Arnett panel report's recommendations.


This report includes an identification of the comparator groups that OPG has used, and OPG has not received any subsequent communication from its shareholder indicating that it has any concerns with respect to our response to the Arnett report on executive compensation.


MR. SMITH:  Those are my questions in examination in-chief.  And I tender the panel for cross-examination, Members of the Panel.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.


Mr. Shepherd, I believe you are first.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


Before I get to the tax stuff that I am here for, let me just ask a couple of clean-up questions related to things that have happened more recently.


With respect to the compliance with the Arnett report, Mr. Barrett, you have a report that you posted on your website.  Is that in the evidence somewhere?


MR. BARRETT:  It is in the public domain, but it is not on the website.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry?  Not in the evidence.


MR. BARRETT:  Sorry, it is in the public domain, but it's not in the evidence.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So can you file that, please?


MR. BARRETT:  We can, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  J14.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J14.1:  to PROVIDE REPORT ON COMPLIANCE WITH ARNETT REPORT.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the second thing is when you were still part of panel 10A, Mr. Barrett, you had a discussion with the Chair about this K13.4 or L-14-4, which is the CWIP versus conventional comparison.


Do you recall that?  It was just before the break.


MR. BARRETT:  Yes, that's right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you said that you could reconcile this to the numbers that you have actually included in the application.


I guess I am trying to understand, if you are using the opening rate base each year -- we tried to sort of do a back-door calculation of this, and we couldn't.  So if you are using the opening rate base, then generally speaking, these revenue requirement impacts every year are going to be low, tight?  As long as the rate base is growing, they're going to be low; right?

MR. BARRETT:  I'm sorry, they're going to be low?


MR. SHEPHERD:  The revenue requirement impacts are going to be low, because if you're using the opening rate base, that is not the rate base for the year; right?

MR. BARRETT:  There's a timing issue, but I wouldn't say -- I wouldn't agree that they're going to be low.


They will still be very significant.  The timing between one year and the next year might be slightly different than our illustrative example.


MR. SHEPHERD:  In fact, the amount that you collect until -- between now and when the plant comes in-service will increase; right?  Under the --


MR. BARRETT:  I'm sorry, I'm not following the question.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Under the CWIP program?


MR. BARRETT:  Under the CWIP proposal yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So this, the number we have here, 1,720 or 1.1 billion, depending on how you look at it, that number is actually too low.  It should be higher; right?  If you look at rate base for each year as opposed to opening rate base?


MR. BARRETT:  There is a timing issue, that's right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I am going to ask you, if you don't mind, to do that reconciliation.  Show us how these numbers were obtained, and correct them, if any of them are wrong, to show rate base for the year, as opposed to opening rate base.


Can you undertake to do that?


MR. BARRETT:  Since I offered earlier to do it, I can't see how I would object.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you very much.


[Laughter.]


MR. SHEPHERD:  And can you show the calculation?


MR. BARRETT:  But I will think of a reason.


[Laughter.]


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you show the calculations too, what rate base you used and how you got to the number?


MR. BARRETT:  We can.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you very much.


MR. MILLAR:  J14.2.

UNDERTAKING NO. 14.2:  To reconcile PWU Exhibit K13.4 for rate base for year.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So now I turn to tax stuff.


We have a package of materials that is labelled:  "School Energy Coalition cross-examination materials, OPG panel 10", which is 102 pages of fascinating stuff.


And in addition, there were three pages -- actually four pages now -- of material that were in the Ernst & Young report, which was, when it was provided to the intervenors, was encrypted.  And so we couldn't include it in the document.


But OPG has provided us with hard copies, and this can either be a separate exhibit or it can be added on to the end of this one.  Your preference.


MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, I would suggest we mark them separately.  K14.2 will be the School Energy Coalition cross-examination materials.
EXHIBIT NO. K14.2:  SCHOOL ENERGY COALITION CROSS-EXAMINATION MATERIALS.


MR. MILLAR:  And K14.3 will be the hard copy of Exhibit F4, tab 2, schedule 1, attachment 1. 
EXHIBIT NO. K14.3:  HARD COPY OF EXHIBIT F4, TAB 2, SCHEDULE 1, ATTACHMENT 1.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And his is only excerpts from that report.  The report is quite long, but these are just the tables.


So my name is Jay Shepherd.  I am counsel for the School Energy Coalition.  I think I know all of you, except one.


What I want to do is I want to take you step by step through the tax loss variances account, and it may take a while.  We will do it slowly, step by step, starting with the three decisions to figure out where we are today.


So to do that, I want to first start with your prefiled evidence in the EB-2007-0905 proceeding.  If you take a look at page 2 of our materials, this is an excerpt from that prefiled evidence.


Do you have that?


MR. HEARD:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I would ask the Board Panel, if I am going either too fast or too slow, if you could let me know.  Give me a slap, so that I can adjust my speed.


MR. DeROSE:  I will offer a slap.


MR. SMITH:  That is an open-ended invitation.


[Laughter]


MR. SHEPHERD:  I will say nothing.


And in this prefiled evidence, you have -- starting at page 8, which is page 3 of our materials -- you have a discussion of how you calculated the tax expense that was included in your revenue requirement in that proceeding.


Do you see that, starting at line 17?


MR. HEARD:  Yes, I do.


MR. SHEPHERD:  What it says is that you applied your statutory tax rate to your regulatory taxable income to get the tax amount; is that right?


MR. HEARD:  Yes, it is.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, that is not entirely accurate; right?  Because actually, what you do is apply the tax rate to the regulatory taxable income, but then you adjust for tax credits; right?

That is the correct way to do it.  So for example, if it turned out you had some SR&ED credits, S-R-E-D credits?


MR. HEARD:  Yes.  But there were none at the time when this sentence was written, because you are looking at the last hearing; right?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And in fact, those several million dollars a year of SR&ED credits now are included in the income tax variance account, a separate account; right?

MR. HEARD:  Yes, there is a separate -- the income tax and variance account tracks those.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But if you just leave the tax credits aside.  I am only mentioning them so we can put them aside, because they're an unnecessary complication.  What you do is you take your rate of tax, 33 percent or something like that in this case, and you multiply it by the regulatory taxable income to get the tax payable for the year; right?

MR. HEARD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then so you see that if you go a little further down to line 26, regulatory taxable income is, your regulatory earnings before tax, but then subject to a number of adjustments; right?

MR. HEARD:  That's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And this is no different from a company in the private sector; right?  A company in the private sector has its accounting income, but then in order to calculate its taxable income, it fills out a form called T2S1, which adds back certain things that are not allowed to be deducted for tax purposes, and then deducts certain things that are allowed to be deducted for tax purposes; right?

MR. HEARD:  Yes.  It follows the same principle, with the added complication that I would point out, that in some cases there are regulatory principles that override in terms of the timing of which certain deductions would be provided under a normal T2S1.

So, for example, sometimes there is a bit more matching of deductions or additions with the timing in which they are recovered from or put into the -- through rates.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you're saying that when you calculate your taxes for regulatory purposes, you don't calculate them the say way as you calculate your taxes for tax purposes?

MR. HEARD:  We do.  We do.  In general, we follow the same principles, but sometimes there are some specific items that the timing of a deduction will change, and that is why I didn't just agree 100 percent with the statement that it is matching 100 percent.

An example would be where we, for example, calculated the '05 to 2007 tax losses and we have the parts deferral account.  In 2005, we actually took a deduction for that and that is what we showed in the last rates hearing.  But then there was some instruction through the Board findings that we make sure that we were using the benefits follow cost principle and watching that closely.

And in doing that, we have gone back and looked at it and made sure we match the deduction to the same time as the amortization happens of recovery of that account.  But, in general, absolutely, follow the Income Tax Act.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, I am going to come back to parts in a second, so let's leave that for now.

Aside from that example, in general, the principle is correct; right?  You do it the same way as the private sector?

MR. HEARD:  Correct, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so the simplest example of this is accounting depreciation; right?  So accounting depreciation is something that, although from an accounting point of view you have a number of ways you can do it, you are not allowed to deduct that for tax purposes; right?

MR. HEARD:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Instead, the tax system has its own code for that, which is called capital cost allowance, and so you add back your accounting depreciation, and then you deduct your capital cost allowance?

MR. HEARD:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And the difference between the two is a timing difference.  In the end, you are going to be able to collect all of it; right?  It is all going to be deductible in the end?

MR. HEARD:  Yes, the difference is a timing difference.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In fact, there are accounting rules for how you deal with that timing difference; right?

MR. HEARD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so, for example, there are some assets, particularly when they're new, that you get significantly more CCA than you do -- capital cost allowance than you do depreciation, and so you have additional deductions that you don't have for accounting purposes; right?

MR. HEARD:  That could be the case, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  For example, computer software?

MR. HEARD:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So if you can go to page 3 of our materials, this is -- right at the bottom of the page, it refers to the most significant T2S1 adjustments, and you start describing them on the next page.  And the first one is depreciation and capital cost allowance, which we just talked about; right?  Right?

MR. HEARD:  Yes, I'm with you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then -- and then the next one is nuclear waste management expenses.  But before I go to that, for the years prior to 2005, you had deductions for CCA that exceeded depreciation, is that right, prior to 2005?  I will get to 2005 to 2008 in a second.

MR. BARRETT:  Are you speaking for the company as a whole or --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am talking about with respect to the prescribed facilities.

MR. HEARD:  That's something I -- I don't have that information off the top of my head.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  We will come back to it.

There is one comment here under depreciation and CCA with respect to an ongoing income tax audit, which I heard you say there was something about SR&EDs in the audit, but was there also a CCA adjustment associated in the audit?

MR. HEARD:  Yes, there was.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Tell us about that.

MR. HEARD:  Through the audit process, there were some items that we had put in certain classes that the auditors disagreed with and, in the end, required us to move them into certain other classes.

And this was known at the time of the last application, and in the CCA schedules that we provided in the last application, that was reflected correctly as such.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, no, I saw that, but it refers to an ongoing tax audit, so I am asking if there is anything else in addition to those adjustments?

MR. HEARD:  No, but what that plays -- no.  The short answer is no in terms of CCA.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the numbers in the original payment accounts -- payment amounts decision were correct?

MR. HEARD:  For CCA, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, good.

The next item on this list is nuclear waste management expenses, and the accruals of those expenses are not tax deductible; right?

MR. HEARD:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But the cash expenditures and the segregated tax contributions are tax deductible?

MR. HEARD:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  By the way, where is accretion in that?  Is that in the accruals?

MR. HEARD:  The reason why you don't see accretion on this is due to the methodology in which the regulatory taxes are calculated.

So accretion doesn't show up in our earnings before tax number for the regulated facilities.  We've excluded that based on the method of recovery of costs related to decommissioning and nuclear waste.

So, for example, on OPG's tax returns, you would see accretion, but you don't see it listed as an item here, because it is not in the earnings before tax number, the regulatory earnings before tax number.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am going to ask you, then, to go to Exhibit K14.3.  Don't lose the other one.  We will spend lots time on it, don't worry.

But in K13.4, the Ernst & Young amounts tables, this document starts in column 1 --


MR. BARRETT:  Sorry, they're just turning it up.  Just give them a moment.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, it was handed out.

MR. BARRETT:  There are some other sheets that they want to turn up so they can provide assistance.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have that?

MR. HEARD:  I do.  I should probably point out, as well, that these documents were filed in the evidence as Exhibits 10, 11 -- sorry, tables 10, 11, 12 in Exhibit F4, tab 2, schedule 1, tables 10, 11 and 12.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Really?

MR. HEARD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Wonderful.

The first column of that is directly from your tax return; right?  These are the numbers on your tax return?

MR. HEARD:  The first column and the second column.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The column marked number 1, "OPG Parent"?

MR. HEARD:  Yes, and the column marked number 2, "Subs".

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So where's the accretion in that?  You said the accretion is on your tax return, but it is not in your calculations for regulatory purposes.  Where is it, then?

MR. HEARD:  So the accretion is in the earnings before tax number already.  So there's been a deduction for -- an expense for accretion expense.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. HEARD:  And where you see it coming out is on line 3.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. HEARD:  It says:  "Nuclear waste management expenses."

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. HEARD:  And column 7, "other adjustments" where the accretion is being removed to get to the number in column 8 of 20 million.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I will come back to that.  I am not sure I 100 percent understand it, but by the time we're finished, I hope to.

Okay.  So back to page 4 of our materials, which is page 9 of your previous filing.  We talked about items 2, 3 and 4 on that nuclear waste management expenses, cash expenditures for nuclear waste and decommissioning, and segregated fund contributions and receipts.

If we go to table 7 of -- if I can find it, hang on.  Yes.  On page 8 of our materials, this is the calculation you've done of your, basically, T2S1 sort of adjustments for 2007, '08 and '09; right?  From the previous case?

MR. HEARD:  From the previous case, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so we see, for example, line 4, you add back the nuclear waste management expenses; right?

MR. HEARD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then --


MR. HEARD:  It is taking me a moment to look at the numbers, because -- just as a point of clarification, so this, all of these numbers were presented when -- during our last -- at the time of the last application, when we were treating Bruce lease as regulated.  And then following the findings that the Board -- no longer being regulated.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.

MR. HEARD:  So that changed all of these.

MR. SHEPHERD:  We will get to the Bruce lease adjustments later.  So you add back nuclear waste management expenses, and then on lines 15 and 16, you deduct your cash expenditures for nuclear waste and decommissioning, and your contributions to the seg funds; right?

MR. HEARD:  That's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And these things have the effect, in fact, of increasing your tax losses; right?

MR. HEARD:  Yes, in these years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that is a timing difference, just like CCA; right?

MR. HEARD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I lost my spot.

So then if we can go back to page 4 of our materials, you see an item number 5:  "Adjustment related to duplicate interest deduction."

Can you just briefly describe what that is?

MR. HEARD:  What this relates to is the fact that in the deductions that are provided for tax calculation purposes, related to the contributions to the segregated funds, there is implicitly interest in those amounts, and therefore by OPG providing the full contribution to the segregated funds as a deduction in this calculation, there would be a double-counting of the interest component, for tax purposes, of the interest deduction.

And it is just as a result of the interplay between the way the rates are calculated and the way the tax is calculated.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then pension and other employment benefits is the next one.  Again, this is one where you are not allowed to deduct the accrual, but the cash payments you make, you are allowed to deduct?

MR. HEARD:  That's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you add back the accrual, and then you deduct the cash payments?

MR. HEARD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then the next one is regulatory assets and liabilities.  And as I understand it, generally speaking, you are entitled to deduct those expenditures, expenditures that end up being regulatory assets and liabilities, that you are allowed to deduct them or include them in income, as the case may be, at the time that they happen, as they are incurred.

But that you don't treat them as deductions for regulatory taxable income as incurred; right?

Your view is, if I understand your explanation, it is that you treat those as deductions for tax purposes only as the amounts are recovered from the taxpayers; right?

MR. HEARD:  Yes.  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  From the ratepayers, not taxpayers?

MR. HEARD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you get the deduction early, but the ratepayers get the benefit of it later; is that right?

MR. HEARD:  That's one way to say it.  But there are other instances where it would be the other way around.

There's an example where we will end up paying tax earlier on a variance account and recover it later, and so it could go either way.

MR. SHEPHERD:  There is a value in getting a tax deduction early; right?

MR. HEARD:  Or we could -- there is a value in getting a tax deduction earlier, but as I say, just in the same manner, there is a situation where we will pay tax earlier on a variance account.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Although generally speaking, at least in this case, you've got a lot more things that you are asking the ratepayers to pay, than you are things that you are giving back to the ratepayer; right?  In this case?

MR. HEARD:  I am not sure how to answer that, actually, because the -- for tax purposes, looking at it only from my --


MR. BARRETT:  Sorry, is your –- sorry to interrupt.

Is your question that the net balance is a credit or a debit?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  The regulatory asset -- the regulatory -- the deferral and variance account balance is several hundred million dollars that you want the ratepayers to pay; right?

MR. BARRETT:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, this also -- this previous evidence also talks about parts, which you referred to, which you say is an exception to the general rule that the tax deduction follows the collection pattern.

Help me understand that.

MR. HEARD:  This is, I believe, where we were saying that at the time, as shown on the page that you have handed out.

But if I could point to the current evidence for this application, filed Exhibit F4, tab 2, schedule 1, page 14, starting on line 6, there is a discussion there of 147 million reduction.

Sorry, I will give you a minute to find that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I didn't get the reference.  Can you explain again?

MR. HEARD:  Okay.  Sorry.  Page 14 of Exhibit F4, tab 2, schedule 1.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, yes.  Okay.  That's actually in here.  It is actually at page 77 of our materials.

MR. HEARD:  And if you look, starting at line 6 --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes?

MR. HEARD:  -- there's a discussion of the timing in which we are providing that deduction for tax purposes.  And it would, as a result of this -- this change here, tie into the way the other treatments, as you have described, of providing it at the same time as it is recovered.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So this says -- I am reading it:

"Consistent with the requirement of the OEB as set out on page 170 of the EB-2007-0905 Decision, OPG is providing the tax benefit related to the parts cost deduction to ratepayers to coincide with the timing of the recovery of costs, including interest on the deferral account from ratepayers."

So that's what you're referring to; right?

MR. HEARD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So then I am going to go --see if we have that.

And so if you look at page 32 of our materials, that's page 170 of the decision.  Tell me where it says -- where the Board says you should match the timing.

I can save you a lot of trouble.  It doesn't say to match the timing.  It says the person who gets -- who eats the loss gets the tax benefit.  It doesn't say that you time it to be exactly the same time.  It says it is about who gets it, not when they get it; isn't that right?

MR. HEARD:  I'm looking at the top of page 32 and seeing a sentence basically saying that the Board believes that the benefit of tax deductions and losses that arose before the date of the Board's order should be apportioned between consumers and OPG based on the principle the party who bears the cost should be entitled to any related tax savings or benefit.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. HEARD:  And then I believe, although I just haven't found the section in here, that there are a number of comments about the benefits follow costs principle being used.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, we are going to come back to that principle, but you don't see anything on page 170 that talks about the timing of the deduction; right?

MR. HEARD:  Nothing further than that.

MR. KOGAN:  I would add, Mr. Shepherd, that in our position that just follows logically.  If you apply the benefits that follow costs principle, you would also extend that to matching the timing.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh.  So then the shareholder shouldn't take the deductions until it is eating the losses; right?

So you shouldn't take the differential between the tax loss and the accounting loss, because then you would be taking it early; right?  Is that what you mean, or is this just for the ratepayers?

MR. HEARD:  Just to add a further comment there, so you are pointing at an individual instance where there is a deduction that was available to OPG, but there will be some amounts equal to or far greater than that amount related to variance accounts that OPG may have to pay tax on immediately, and yet it won't recover until later, and they're recovered over time through rates, as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, we will explore that in a minute, because I do have some numbers on that, but let's -- I had asked Mr. Kogan a question.

MR. KOGAN:  Could you restate the question, please?

MR. SHEPHERD:  The question is:  That principle that you take the tax benefits at the time you eat the losses, you say it should apply to the ratepayers.  Do you also say it should apply to the shareholder, to the company, and, if not, why would the rule be different?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. KOGAN:  I would say that the two are not necessarily related, because one is a regulatory principle of matching what we recover through our rates, through revenues from customers, to the benefit that we provide -- the tax benefit that we provide the customers with.

I think that is mixing apples and oranges when talking about the timing, when the actual benefit is received by the shareholder.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The tax system provides a benefit of early deductions for some things; right?

MR. KOGAN:  It provides different timing of things.  Sometimes earlier.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Right.  It is usually earlier; right?

MR. KOGAN:  I don't think I could comment on generalizing like that.

MR. HEARD:  An example --


MR. SHEPHERD:  You are a CA?

MR. KOGAN:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Did you study tax?

MR. KOGAN:  Yes, I did.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then you know that most of the timing differences -- most of the timing differences in the Income Tax Act provide earlier deductions, not later deductions; isn't that true?

MR. KOGAN:  On principle, yes.  But, in particular circumstances, that may or may not be the case.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Fair enough.  Sorry, you had something to add?

MR. HEARD:  Just one other comment, that, in this case, these were -- in looking at that benefits follows cost principle, the situation in this case, where these were costs paid for by OPG and they weren't being recovered until a later period of time.

So in that regard, yes, OPG did get a tax deduction as a company.  As a legal entity, OPG got a tax deduction, but it also had paid for the costs, which was far greater than the tax savings on that, and yet wasn't going to recover them until a later point of time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Are you getting interest on the deferral and variance accounts?

MR. HEARD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Isn't that what the interest is for, to compensate you for paying it early?

MR. HEARD:  Yes, but we are also providing the tax -- I just want to make sure we also provide the deduction that way, as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the tax system provides a benefit of early deductions.  We have agreed on that.

MR. KOGAN:  As a general principle.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And what you are saying is, where those early deductions are allocated to the shareholder, take them now, but where those early deductions are allocated for regulatory purposes to the ratepayer, don't take them now; get them later.  Isn't that what you're saying?  It ends up being a big number.  That is why I am pushing it.

MR. KOGAN:  No, I don't think that is what we're saying.

I think that there is a matching principle at play and it could go either way.  So I'd have to know specifically what you're referring to.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  If you could go to page 11 of your previous evidence, which is page 6 of our materials, you see a reference here on line 7 to the tax losses that are available to be carried forward of $990.2 million.  Do you see that?

MR. HEARD:  Yes, I see that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And where you got those - tell me whether this is right - is if you go to pages 8 and 9 of our material, which are tables 7 and 8 of your previous evidence, you see the -- is it 8 and 9?  Sorry.  Yes, 8 and 9.  No, sorry, 7 and 8.  I am trying to make sure I have the right tables here.

You will see that the tax losses that are being applied here, where you get the 990.2 million is from table 8, in line 21, 364.4 in 2005 and 101.2 in 2006; right?

MR. HEARD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then if you look at table 7, 553 million in -- on line 23 in 2007?

MR. HEARD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And if you add those up, you get 1 billion and 18.6 million, but then you had to make a $28.4 million adjustment for the period Q1 2005; right?

MR. HEARD:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that is because the losses in that quarter weren't subject to regulation, so they shouldn't properly be included in this calculation; correct?

MR. HEARD:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so your theory, then, what you proposed to the Board then, was that prior to April 1st, 2005, OPG was not a regulated entity, so the losses for that prior period shouldn't be credited to the ratepayers; right?

MR. HEARD:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's what you proposed at the time?

MR. HEARD:  Right.  Sorry.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But if you look at -- go back to page 6 of our materials on page 11 of the previous evidence.  What you proposed with respect to the $990.2 million -- with respect to the $990.2 million was two things.

First, you had projected taxable income in 2008 and 2009 of $163 million and $324 million, and you proposed to reduce that to zero, which would use up $487 million of the losses; right?  You can see that at the top of page 12.

MR. HEARD:  Yes.  Yes, I see it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then you had $503.2 million left; right?

MR. HEARD:  At that time, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Would you accept that subject to check?

MR. HEARD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you said -- okay, if you go to page 11 of our materials, you see -- this is your Exhibit K1-1-2 from your evidence in the previous case.

If I understand what this says, it is, We're not going to be able to use those additional $503 million of losses in this current test period.  We will be able to use them in the future, but not now, but we want to give the ratepayers the benefit of it now, because we think otherwise the rate increase would be too high.  Is that a fair assessment of what you said?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.  That was our mitigation proposal in the last case, and that, I think, in particular the 990 million of losses that you have been discussing, and the approach that we took to calculate those losses, was part of an integrated approach to looking at our assets, and the calculation of taxes.

And that integrated approach was rejected by the Board.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I understand.

MR. BARRETT:  So we are back, in this case, with a different tax calculation reflecting the specific findings and directions of the Board.

So what we proposed in the last time, in our view, is kind of -- it's gone.  We had a view.  The Board told us we were wrong, gave us directions as to how to do it properly.  And that is what we're back here today.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In order to understand the Board's decision and the review decision, we have to know what they were reacting to.  That is why I am doing this.

So at that time, what you proposed to do -- if I understand what you have said on page 11 of our materials, your K1-1-2 from the previous case -- is you were going to reduce the revenue requirement by $228 million, in addition to not having a tax provision, $228 million, which was 90.1 million to hydroelectric, and 137.9 million reduction for nuclear; is that correct?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.  We called that our accelerated return of tax losses.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  That also, by the way -- tell me whether this is right -- that also included the benefit of the tax losses associated with the Bruce lease; right?  That was all folded in?

MR. BARRETT:  That was part of our integrated approach.  Part of our view was that the Board should give us a return on the Bruce-related capital, that we should treat them -- even though they weren't regulated or prescribed facilities -- we would treat them for purposes of setting the payment amounts as if they were.

Again, that is something that the Board rejected, and gave us directions to do things differently.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, in fact, as you have said, the Board didn't agree with your proposal.  If you turn to page 14 of our materials, this is a series of excerpts from the previous decision.  Do you have that?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So first, let's get the Bruce lease component out of the way.  We are going to discuss it in more detail in a few minutes, but I just want to deal with it with this particular part now.

If you look at page 26 of our materials, which is page 110 of the original decision, payment amounts decision, this is a discussion of how Bruce -- how the tax provisions should be done for Bruce.

If I understand this correctly, the Board said:  Look, Bruce profit or loss should be calculated on a commercial basis, and a commercial basis includes a provision for taxes and that is what you should do; is that right?

MR. BARRETT:  GAAP is what they told us.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Exactly.  They said, in fact:  You don't get a return on your assets.  You make what you make; right?

MR. BARRETT:  There is no return.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.  But whatever you expect -- whatever profit you expect, you should have a tax provision for it?

MR. BARRETT:  There are taxes on a GAAP basis, but all of the kind of net proceeds from the Bruce lease are used as an offset to the payment amount.

So in terms of OPG proper, there is no profit from the Bruce lease arrangement.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And, well, profit in the T2S1 sense, you have an accounting income amount that then is going to be adjusted.  You are going to get a tax impact; right?

MR. BARRETT:  There is a tax calculation, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And you will agree that the Board also said that to the extent that there are regulatory tax losses that relate to the Bruce lease, prior to April 1st, 2008, the ratepayers don't get the benefit of them as part of a tax loss calculation.  They're part of the Bruce lease calculation.  And they're either in or out, depending on what works there; right?

MR. BARRETT:  Can you take me to a specific reference?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I think it says that on the same page, doesn't it?

MR. BARRETT:  If you can just give me a line or paragraph?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  I thought this was -- you are excluding the $390 million in Bruce tax losses precisely because the Board said you should exclude them; right?

MR. BARRETT:  You're talking about the period prior to April 1, 2008?

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.

MR. BARRETT:  That's right.  They're not part of the calculation of regulatory tax losses.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So then if you could move to page 28 of our materials –- no, sorry, page 29.

The Board then gets into your proposal for the zero tax provision and the mitigation that we have just discussed.

Do you have that section?

MR. BARRETT:  I have page 29, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so the first thing the Board says that I want to draw your attention to is at the top of page 169, which is page 31 of the -- of our materials, where the Board says:

"OPG's tax calculations did not receive much scrutiny during this proceeding."

Do you see that?

MR. BARRETT:  I do, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The Board's response to that, in fact, later in the decision, was to say:  We want you to go away and do a more detailed calculation of these tax losses.

MR. BARRETT:  Reflecting the Board's directions and findings, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.  So that it could be scrutinized in this case; right?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  That is, in fact, what the Ernst & Young report is purporting to do, is to show those calculations and their confirmation that they were calculated correctly?

MR. BARRETT:  We have a lot of evidence on the calculation of tax losses.  The Ernst & Young report is just one element of many elements.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Isn't this the detailed calculation of your tax losses for those years that the Board asked for?

MR. BARRETT:  It is what we call a reconciliation. Maybe I will ask Mr. Heard to speak to it.

MR. HEARD:  Yes.  On tables 10, 11 and 12, we have the reconciliations to the tax returns, for 2005, 2006, and 2007 respectively.

But then we also show the detailed calculation on table 7, and table 7 is a recalculation of the tax losses for 2005, 2006 and 2007.  And then for, essentially, good measure, we then on table 8 then who show a complete reconciliation of the tax losses that were presented in the last rate hearing to the tax losses or tax amounts for 2005, 2006 and 2007 that are now being presented.

So we have kind of arrived at it through the first-principle method on table 7, and then through a reconciliation on table 8.  And then providing some further comfort really is the intention, by showing tables 10, 11 and 12.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So we are going to come back to this --


MR. BARRETT:  So the record is clear, this is F4, tab 2, schedule 1, and the various tables.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  So we are going to come back to K14.3, which is tables 10 to 12, as you've indicated, in a second.

But there is a detailed reconciliation; right?  That you --


MR. HEARD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- that you referred to a number of places in the evidence?

So then at the top of the next page in the decision --this is page 32 of our materials, and this is page 170, which we just talked about -- the Board says:  Look, tax deductions and losses should be applied based on the principle -- tell me whether this is correct, and I am quoting:

"The benefit of tax deductions and losses should be apportioned between electricity consumers and OPG, based on the principle that the party who bears a cost should be entitled to any related tax savings or benefits."

Am I right in understanding that your current application, your current calculation of the tax loss variance account is intended to follow that principle?

MR. HEARD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thanks.

So then if you look below that, you will see that the Board gives a couple of examples of this.

One of them is the parts account.  They say:  Look, at the end of 2007 there was $183.8 million owing by the ratepayers in that account.  And since the ratepayers are going to have to pay that amount, whatever tax deductions are associated with that are theirs; is that right?

MR. HEARD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  By the way, it doesn't say anything about when they get them.  It just says they get them; right?

MR. HEARD:  In that particular paragraph.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But then -- and the Board says the number for that is $183.8 million, but actually there is a different number now, because that doesn't include Q1, 2008; right?

MR. HEARD:  I probably need to check that, but I will take that as assumed, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  We're going to come back to it later.  I just want to make sure that we don't accept that number as being a given, when it has been corrected.

But then you see they give another example.  They say:  Look, if OPG lost money on the prescribed facilities in -- on its regulated operations in 2007, then that loss, the tax break that is associated with that loss belongs to OPG's shareholder, not the ratepayers; right?  Because they ate the loss?

MR. HEARD:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that is the same principle:  Benefits follow costs; right?

MR. HEARD:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  If you look at the bottom of the next page, this talks about the requirement that you file better information on your test period income tax provision, but it also says, by the way, exclude Bruce.  This is what we talked about earlier; right?

MR. HEARD:  Yes.

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, those -- all of those components we have just talked about, the Board's findings on those things, those were not changed by subsequent decisions, were they?  Those are the things that were not objected to, those calculations -- those decisions.  The decision requiring you to follow the benefits follow costs treatment, the decision requiring you to provide better information in the next rate case, and the decision requiring you to exclude the Bruce lease, those were not challenged; right?

MR. BARRETT:  The Board did not change those findings or directions in subsequent proceedings, and our evidence and proposals reflect those findings and directions.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Wonderful.  But the Board made two other findings that were subsequently altered, and so let's look at those two.  At the top of page 171, page 33 of our materials, you will see that the Board said, Let's -- your proposal to treat the tax liability for the test period as zero, that is not really true.  It doesn't follow the benefits versus cost treatment, but we see it as just mitigation not related to tax losses, so we are going to let you do it anyway, but as mitigation, not as a tax provision; right?

MR. BARRETT:  The report -- or, sorry, this decision did not find a link between the tax losses and the mitigation proposal; correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So they gave you what you asked for, but for a different reason?

MR. BARRETT:  No, I wouldn't accept that.  Our proposal clearly established a link between the tax losses, as we had calculated them, and the mitigation proposal.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I guess my point is -- and I am not trying to catch you out here, Mr. Barrett.  My question really is:  It is true that they gave you the result you asked for, but their reasoning was inconsistent with the reason you asked for it; right?

MR. BARRETT:  No, I wouldn't accept that, either.  I am not trying to be difficult.  We had what I call an integrated proposal that had a number of elements, including getting a return on Bruce and treating it as if it was a regulated asset for purposes of calculating the payment amounts.

So the -- and the Board rejected that.  So I wouldn't say that we got what we wanted.  I would disagree with that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The result - that is, that the tax provision was zero - the dollar impact of that was reduced because the Board made other changes in the decision; right?

So, for example, the ROE was lower.  The capital structure was different.  And, as a result, the tax provision had to change, anyway.  Even if it was a full tax provision, it had to change, but then they reduced it to zero; right?

MR. BARRETT:  They did reduce it to zero, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the impact was less than you originally thought it was going to be, because you had less ROE on which to pay tax; true?

MR. BARRETT:  I think that follows.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  The second thing the Board did in the original case is they said - and this is I think at the -- in the next paragraph.  You had proposed $228 million of mitigation accelerating the future tax losses, and they said, We don't think that has anything to do with taxes, either, but we will let you do it; however, we will adjust it.  Because we have adjusted the rest of the application, we will adjust the amount of that down from $228 million to $170 million.  Is that right?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, that is the 22 percent of the revenue deficiency that is cited there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so you will recall that the original $228 million of mitigation was split up 90.1 million to hydroelectric and 137.9 million to nuclear.  Do you recall we just discussed that?

MR. BARRETT:  I recall that, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So if you can go to page 64 of our materials, this is table 3 from your draft rate order, the final approved rate order.  Do you have that?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And am I right in understanding that the amount of the mitigation that was provided for there is on line 6, which is 27 million for hydroelectric and 141.7 million for nuclear?

MR. BARRETT:  That's the 22 percent reduction, revenue deficiency.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it actually ended up being 168.7 as opposed to the 228 million you proposed?

MR. BARRETT:  It's a lesser number.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Correct me if I am wrong.  Those amounts would not have had an impact on your -- let me put it another way.

Leave aside the fact that there was zero tax provision in the decision.  Let's assume you had a full tax provision; right?

These amounts, this $168.7 million, that -- how should I ask this?  If those had not been deducted, that wouldn't have changed your tax provision; right?

MR. KOGAN:  No, that is not accurate.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry?

MR. KOGAN:  That's not accurate.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So these are adjustments from revenue requirement and revenue requirement is a pretax number, isn't it?

MR. KOGAN:  I would characterize it that would be essentially an adjustment to ROE, and then you would need to gross that up for taxes on that 168.7.

So, in fact, by taking the 168.7 from ROE, you are taking away 168.7, plus the related taxes that OPG would have had to pay on this amount.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I don't see anything like that in your draft rate order.  It looks to me like it goes directly to revenue requirement, period.

MR. BARRETT:  You have to appreciate that it was kind of a reduction to our revenues and it would flow right to a reduction in our net income.  We see it very much as a bottom line impact.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But that is not what the Board said.

MR. BARRETT:  That is the consequences of the Board's decision.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, the Board said --


MR. BARRETT:  There is no offsetting cost, in other words.  It is just a reduction to our bottom line.

MR. KOGAN:  If it helps, Mr. Shepherd, I think when you say put aside that the tax provision has been set to zero for those years, that is I think the assumption -- where the problem arises, is that in assuming that's zero, you are also assuming away there is no associated tax impact of this 168.6.

So it is in fact sitting in that reduction to zero.

MR. SHEPHERD:  See, that's the part I didn't understand, because it seems to me that if you change your revenue -- if your revenue requirement is calculated correctly with the proper ROE and the proper tax provision, if everything is done properly, you have a number, and then you reduce the revenue requirement; right?  You reduce -- then you will reduce your tax.  Isn't that true?

MR. KOGAN:  Could you just run that by me again, please?

MR. SHEPHERD:  You will still collect the tax from the ratepayers.  In that scenario, everything is done the conventional way, full revenue requirement, with full ROE and full tax provision; right?

MR. KOGAN:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If you then -- the only change you make is a reduction to your revenue requirement, you are still collecting all the tax; right?  It is a pretax number that you are adjusting.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. HEARD:  So I think the thing that we are just trying to make sure we completely understand, though, is whether you would see any impact on that, because the taxes were showing up as zero.  So there wasn't a positive tax number to be reduced.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand.  All I am trying to do is make sure we don't end up double counting, because we give you back the tax provision that you didn't have and we also give you back the mitigation amount, and if we give you -- if we gross up both of them, then the potential exists that we will end up double counting the tax provision; right?

MR. BARRETT:  We don't agree with that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  You don't agree that your evidence does that?

MR. KOGAN:  No, we don't.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  We will come to that.

I wonder if we can now turn to -- we are still in 2009, of course.

I wonder if we could turn to the review decision, which you will find at page 35 of our materials.  This is a decision by the Board on a motion for review of the original decision.  Do you have that?

MR. BARRETT:  I do.  Sorry, I do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And if you look at page 40 of our materials, which is page 6 of the decision, you will see that here's the grounds for the motion.  Item number 1 is:
~"The Board exceeded its jurisdiction by ordering a revenue requirement reduction of $342 million without evidentiary or legal foundation..."

Blah, blah, blah.


So we looked for that $342 million number in the original decision.  It is not in the original decision; right?  That $342 million number?

MR. KOGAN:  Not explicitly, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Good.  And we know that part of that is the $168.7 million in mitigation.  That's the amount we just talked about; right?  That was from your draft Rate order?

MR. KOGAN:  I think, given all the questions, perhaps the most -- excuse me, too many binders -- the most convenient place would be turn to turn to Exhibit KT1.8.  So this was something we distributed at the Technical Conference in response to, I believe, CME question 14.

It may be a convenient way to look at the components. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  I do not have that.

Okay.  That is your current calculation.  I am not talking about your current calculation, I am talking about the review decision.

MR. KOGAN:  That is --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am going to take you to a calculation of that. 

MR. KOGAN:  Okay.  Sorry, could you restate the question again, then? 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  The $342 million, that number is not in the original decision, is it? 

MR. KOGAN:  In the original decision of 2007-0905?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes. 

MR. KOGAN:  It flows from that decision, but if you are looking for that explicit reference to the number, it doesn't.

I was going to walk you through this table to show you how the numbers flow from that decision.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me come at it from a different direction.

If you take a look at page 65 of our materials, this is an excerpt from your submissions on the review motion, the OPG submissions on the review motion, and this is your calculation of that $342 million.

Do you have that? 

MR. KOGAN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  See, I want to simplify this, and if we go through your table it will be more complicated.

If you look at pages 20 and 21, you will see that you have broken down the 342 into 169 -- that is 168.7 -- which is that additional mitigation amount, and 173 million, which is the foregone tax provision.  That is the amount of taxes that you would have had, had you not asked for zero in the decision; right?

MR. KOGAN:  I think I would ask you to go back to Exhibit KT1.8.  I think it really would be easier to answer your question that way. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  But let's first deal with the –- with the -– with your own document.

MR. SMITH:  Well, Mr. Shepherd, you are certainly free to take the witness if his answer referring to KT1.8 is dissatisfactory, but twice now, the witness has indicated that he would prefer to answer by reference to that. 

If the answer is not responsive, then you can put the proposition to him again. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't think that is how it works, with respect, Madam Chair.  I think I get to ask the questions, and if I want to ask a question about a document that the company provided, they should answer the question. 

MS. CHAPLIN:  Perhaps the witness could answer in respect of the document that appears at page 65 of counsel's materials, and then if they wish to supplement it with reference to KT1.8, why don't we do it that way?

MR. KOGAN:  Certainly.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So my question is:  The $342 million number is 169 million of mitigation, and 173 million, which is your calculation of the tax provision you would have had, had the original decision been correct?

MR. KOGAN:  It is the amount of taxes that we would have had, had two things not happened.  One, the revenue requirement was not reduced by the 169, or 22 percent of the deficiency, and two, we were not asked to artificially set our tax provision to zero. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So it, then, is the tax provision you would have had, had it not been zero; right?

MR. KOGAN:  Yes. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, if you would like to go to your evidence, feel free. 

MR. KOGAN:  Thank you for that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I was trying to simplify.  That is the only reason why I didn't want you to go there.  This can get very complicated if we don't try to keep it simple.

Go ahead.

MR. KOGAN:  So with respect to KT1.8, lines 1 through 5 break out the components of what we consider to be what was the revenue requirement reduction that was imposed as a result of the Board's decision. 

And I will start with the subtotal column, line 6.  You will see the 341.2, which is the 342 total that you also saw --


MR. SHEPHERD:  So this just a more detailed calculation of that? 

MR. KOGAN:  It is a more detailed calculation of that, but what it highlights is lines 4 and 5 represent the tax that OPG would have had to pay, had the revenue requirement not been reduced by $168.7 million. 

And lines 2 and 3 represent the tax that was foregone by OPG, even after -- that OPG would still have to pay even after when the revenue requirement was reduced by 168 million. 

So I am trying to distinguish between two things.  Lines 2 and 3 reflect the Board's direction to set tax provision to zero, and lines 4 and 5 reflect the tax that would be payable had the 22 percent not been imposed. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So if I add those up correctly, you got 95.9 million -- which I think elsewhere is actually 96 million -- which is the tax and gross-up of your income in the previous test period, and 76.6 million, which is the tax and gross-up on the mitigation amount?

MR. KOGAN:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Wonderful.  Okay.  Can you go back to the review decision, please, and I am looking at page 49 of our materials, page 15 of the review decision. 

Madam Chair, I don't know what your plans are for lunch, but given the excitement of the material, any time that you want to stop me, feel free.  Or if you would like, I will find an appropriate time in the next 15 or 20 minutes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes.  Sometime around 12:30 will be fine.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Good.  Thanks.

So you see on page 49 of our materials, page 15 of the review decision, you will see that the Board says that:

"The link between the losses and the mitigation was clear."

And so they've decided to link the two again; right? 

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.  They say the evidentiary record supported that link.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And they have said that the solution to that, if you see in the second-last paragraph, is to create a variance account?

MR. BARRETT:  That's right, to capture the difference between where the numbers should have been and where they were as part of the decision.  And that is the presentation of the amounts that is in the filing. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the amount in the variance account -- tell me whether this is correct -- is the tax loss mitigation account that underpins the Rate order for the test period.  That is your $342 million; right? 

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the tax loss amount that results from your re-analysis of the prior period tax returns, based on the Board's directions as to who gets what; right?  Isn't that what they say?

MR. HEARD:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so it is actually a fairly simple calculation; right?  Take $342 million, figure out what the right number is, the net you get back.  True? 

MR. HEARD:  Fairly simple, but a bit of work. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Uh-huh.  And so we looked for an Accounting order or a similar document that flowed from the review decision.  We couldn't find one.  Is there a rate order, other than the decision itself? 

MR. BARRETT:  There is no rate order, nor is there a need for a rate order? 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Because? 

MR. BARRETT:  The Board's decision orders us to establish the variance account.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But what I am looking for is some direction, some more specific direction, as to what goes in or what goes out of account.  There is nothing like that.

MR. BARRETT:  We read the Board's decision to be very clear on what goes in.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. HEARD:  There is probably -- if I could just add a couple of comments.  On page 169 of the Board's decision on EB-2007-0905, on the first bullet point there --


MR. SHEPHERD:  That is on page 31 of our materials?

MR. HEARD:  Yes.  And there is a comment there that says:
~"The Bruce stations are not prescribed facilities and OPG's Bruce lease is not regulated by the Board.  In the Board's view, any calculation of tax losses in respect of the prescribed facilities should exclude revenues and expenses related to the Bruce lease." 

So that was one piece of direction that we took.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. HEARD:  And then there is a further piece on page 46 of the document that you have handed out, which is the decision on the motion, page 12.

And in the sort of first large paragraph in there, there is a comment that says:
~"The Board indicated that the treatment of taxes on Bruce revenues and costs should be treated in a normal GAAP manner and a tax provision should be included in the calculation of Bruce costs, contrary to OPG's proposal to carry forward tax loss benefits for the Bruce revenues and costs."


So there are a couple of pieces of information that we took when we were --


MR. SHEPHERD:  You will agree there is no consideration in the review decision about whether the $342 million number is correct, is there?  That didn't come up.  It was just accepted as the number.

MR. BARRETT:  The Board did not specify a particular number.  It gave directions as to how the calculation should be done, and, on that basis, we brought forward the information that we brought forward.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So then I wonder if you could turn to page 51 of our materials.  This is the -- this is an application for extension was filed less than a month after the review decision; right?  The review decision was filed on May 11th, and June 9th of the same year you filed an application for extension saying, We are not going to file a payments account application for 2010; we want some extensions.

MR. BARRETT:  You're referring to the accounting order application?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, that's right.

MR. BARRETT:  That application did not deal with extending the term of variance accounts.  That was unnecessary.

It dealt with in extending the rider A, the two-dollar rider, the amortization, because the Board's order in 2007-0905 actually had an end date for the payment of that rider.

The application was focussed on the mechanics of how entries should be booked during 2010 and those accounts where there was some uncertainty as to how that should be done, and I note that the Board, in its decision in that accounting order, does not indicate that any of the accounts need to be continued.  It accepts our view that the Board's order continues until changed by the Board.  That includes the rates or payment amounts and the accounts that are established in that order.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  So let's go to page 52 of our materials, page 2 of the extension decision.

You will see on the fourth bullet there one of the things you were asking for, an order approving, quote, "the basis for recording entries in approved deferral and variance accounts after December 31, 2009".  Is that correct?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.  That is reference to the mechanics of how the calculation should be done.

During 2008 and 2009, we had underpinning forecasts.  Those were the measuring points for measuring variances.  So the question becomes:  In 2010, what would be the measuring point?  And we had proposed that since the rates continue, you would use the underpinning forecast from the 2007-0905 order, which the Board accepted.

So that wasn't an extension of the term of the accounts.  It was simply a confirmation of the mechanics for making those entries into the account.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  I am interested in your current view on it, but we actually had --


MR. BARRETT:  Sorry, sir, that view has not changed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, we actually have your official view on August 12th, 2009 as stated by your counsel.

If you go to page -- page 66 of our materials, this is a letter from Mr. Penny, as he then was, to the Board, and on the second page of that letter you will see, right about the middle -- it's page 67 of our materials.  You will see that he says -- he talks about one main purpose being -- dealing with the recoveries, and then the second, the other main purpose, he says, is "to clarify the basis for recording entries in the following accounts".

And this is, by the way, is all of your outstanding accounts; right?

MR. BARRETT:  It's the same point, sir, that it is the mechanics of calculating the entries.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am not finished.  The question was:  Is this all of your outstanding accounts?

MR. BARRETT:  As far as I can -- upon review of this, aside from the tax loss variance account which was in place at that time, those are all of the accounts.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Mr. Penny goes on to say, in the paragraph following the list:
"The need for this clarification arose because the Decision (and payment amounts order) only specified the basis for recording entries during the test period."

Do you see that?

MR. BARRETT:  That's what it says, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So your view was, if I understand this correctly, that you had to get an order telling you what entries to put in it, in 2010, because you didn't have an order telling you what entries to put in it; right?

MR. BARRETT:  We certainly sought clarification for how the entries should be calculated.  There was two possible approaches.  We could have taken our own view and put entries into the accounts, and then wrestled with that issue of mechanics later when we sought to dispose of the balance.

We thought the pragmatic and prudent approach was to make a proposal to the Board in terms of how you should measure the variances in those accounts during 2010, and the Board accepted our proposal.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, so here's the thing that confused me.  If you go to the application itself -- and I didn't include it, but you can check, if you like.

It is a 13-page application, and ten pages are a detailed proposal for how you put the entries through those accounts; right?

MR. BARRETT:  I will just ask Ms. Reuber whether we have a copy of the application with us.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I have it.  You are welcome to check.

[Ms. Reuber places document before Mr. Barrett.]

MR. BARRETT:  Thanks.  I would agree.  And as I stated earlier, the focus of the application was on getting confirmation of the mechanics of how entries should be made during 2010, and that is -- the majority of the application materials discussed that matter.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, you made a point of saying that you didn't need an extension of your existing payments order.

I take it that your position is that as a regulated entity, you are always free -- unless the Board tells you otherwise, you are always free to keep the rates that you've got, on the terms that you've got, as long as you want; right?

MR. BARRETT:  I don't think it is quite that liberal.

I think the Board's practice is that rates continue until changed by the Board.  That change could happen in response to an application by the regulated utility.  It could also happen that the Board would act on its own motion to call the utility in to assess whether or not rates continue to be just and reasonable.

MR. SHEPHERD:  As it does from time to time, I understand that.

But it is true, isn't it, that you, OPG, are in a position of being able to say, Look, we're happy with the rates we have now.

The trade is, as long as you don't want any changes, you are allowed to stay as you are unless the Board specifically tells you to come in?

MR. BARRETT:  Rates continue.  The Board's rate orders continue until changed, and, again, that can happen either because we apply or the Board asks us to come in to assess whether they continue to be just and reasonable.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now I lost my materials.

Now, we went back to your accounting order, this application for an accounting order, to see if there was any reference to the tax loss variance account and we couldn't find one.

Am I right that this account - this is the biggest of your accounts at the time - that this one was not referred to in this application?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.  I think we have indicated, in response to an interrogatory, why that was.

Again, we were seeking, in the accounting order, to clarify the manner in which the entries into those various accounts should be calculated in 2010, because we thought there was some uncertainty there. 

It is very clear how the tax loss variance account entries are to be calculated.  It is quite straightforward.  It is simply a proration of the '08-'09 number.  So we didn't feel there was any need to get a direction through the accounting or application process.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, let me just stop you there.

Can you show me in the review decision where it talks about 2010?

MR. BARRETT:  I don't believe there is anything that talks about 2010.  What the review decision and order does is establish a variance account, and like all variance accounts established by Board order, they continue until changed by a subsequent Board order.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So unlike the list that is in your extension application, which you needed clarification of what to do after December 31st, 2009, you didn't with the tax loss variance account.  Why is that?  What was different?

MR. BARRETT:  Two things.  So first as a general proposition, variance accounts established pursuant to Board order continue until changed by the Board order, unless that initially establishing order has a fixed end date. 

So all of the accounts that are referenced in the rate order, and the tax loss variance account, continue until changed by the Board, a subsequent Board order.

The rate order application was specifically directed to:  How do we calculate the entries for 2010?

The '08 and '09 period, it is clear, we used the forecasts which were in the filing, which underpin the 2008 and 2009 rates, but there's some -- given that that is a 21-month period, there could be some debate as to how you should calculate those entries in 2010. 

And we made a proposal to use the underpinning 2008 and 2009 forecasts through some averaging process, to establish the measurement point for measuring variances in 2010, and the Board accepted that.

So in that case --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Not for the tax loss variance account?

MR. BARRETT:  I'm sorry?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Not for the tax loss variance account?

MR. BARRETT:  No.  I am simply dealing with the accounts that were dealt with through the rate order application.

So in that case, there was some uncertainty.  We felt it needed to have a rate order.  We made a proposal, and that was accepted by the Board.

In respect of the tax loss variance account, it is very straightforward.  We didn't see any need for clarification for 2010, since it is simply a proration.  That is how the math works.  That is the only way you can get us back to where we need to be, in order to correct the identified error.

So on that basis, we did not include it in the rate order application because we did not believe a clarification was necessary.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you didn't forget about it, you deliberately excluded it?

MR. BARRETT:  Deliberately excluded it because we believed it to be unnecessary.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I wonder if you could go back to Mr. Penny's letter.  This is on page 69 of our materials, page 4 of his letter. 

He is responding to submissions by CME with respect to unfairness because the system has built in a number of protections for the ratepayers. 

And his response, if I may paraphrase his more elegant wording, is:  What do you need protection for?  We are giving you back money, not asking for more.  What are you worried about?

MR. BARRETT:  Sorry, is there a particular paragraph you're paraphrasing? 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, it's the first full paragraph on the page.  Most of the accounts reflect credits to consumers, not debits.

MR. BARRETT:  Mm-hmm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the ones that are debits are already approved for specific amounts. 

So he's saying:  What are you worried about; right?  But that wouldn't be true of the additional 195 million that you were going to ask for in the tax loss variance account, would it? 

MR. BARRETT:  This response from our counsel deals with the application that was filed, so it wouldn't deal with the tax loss variance account.  That wasn't part of the application in question. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  So he wouldn't have known about it?

MR. BARRETT:  He absolutely knew about it, and certainly we had many discussions about it.  But --

MR. SMITH:  None of which we will talk about. 

[Laughter.]

MR. BARRETT:  Thank you for that, counsel. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, and I wanted to ask questions too.

MR. BARRETT:  His submissions in this case deal with the facts in this case.  They don't necessarily deal with facts outside of this case.  That's what I would say.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Did you not think that telling the Board you would be asking for another $195 million on top of this amount might influence their decision in the rate order case? 

MR. BARRETT:  The rate order case was about the mechanics of booking entries, and the continuation of a rider to recover an amortization already approved by the Board.

I don't see a connection between the two. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  In the end, it is true that the extension decision provides guidance to OPG with respect to all of your approved deferral and variance accounts, except the tax loss variance account; is that true? 

MR. BARRETT:  It includes the guidance that we believed was necessary and appropriate.

It does not extend the term of any of our variance accounts.  That was unnecessary.  The Board accepted that it was unnecessary.

It simply deals with an extension of the term of the rider, and with the mechanics of booking entries.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, it was a simple question. 

They have given you guidance, the Board has given you guidance in the extension decision, with respect to every one of your approved deferral and variance accounts, except the tax loss variance account; is that right? 

MR. BARRETT:  What I keep tripping over, sir, is your reference to an extension decision.

MR. SHEPHRED:  Okay.  Sorry.  The rate order decision?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And it gives you guidance with respect to all accounts, except the tax loss variance account?

MR. BARRETT:  There is no guidance with respect to the tax loss variance account in that decision.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the only reason it wasn't considered by the Board in that decision is you didn't tell them about it?

MR. BARRETT:  It certainly was not part of the application.  What the Board turned their mind to in making their decision, I don't know about that, beyond what is recorded in the Board's decision.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have any other order from this Board specifically telling you what entries, if any, are appropriate in the tax loss variance account after 2009?  Specifically referring to the period after 2009?  Do you have anything?

MR. BARRETT:  We do not, other than the decision and order and the motion to vary, but I would say we do not require any.  It's completely unnecessary.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's fine.

Madam Chair, this is a convenient time to break, if it is convenient for the Panel.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Certainly.  We will break now for an hour.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:28 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:41 p.m.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.

Mr. Shepherd, whenever you are ready.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

I would like to turn, witnesses, to the recalculation of your losses.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Maybe I could get you to turn your mic off and turn it on again.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that better?

MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes, it is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

It is correct, isn't it, that in the original decision, the Board Panel said at least 183.8 million of your previous tax losses were for the account of the ratepayers; right?  That's the parts amount?

MR. HEARD:  I think I would have to characterize that as to say at least 183.8 million of the deductions, but the calculation of losses would have had a whole bunch of other things coming in and out of them.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, that's interesting.

So you're saying that if there was a deduction available to you prior to 2008, but it didn't end up creating a loss, then the ratepayers don't get it if they have to pay it after 2008; is that what you're saying?

MR. HEARD:  No.  I don't think that is what I'm saying.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, help me.

MR. HEARD:  What I'm saying is, on page 32 of your handout, which is page 170 of the Board decision from the last hearing, where the reference is made to $183.8 million, that is just saying that that is the remaining deferral account balance as at December 31st, 2007.  And --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, let me stop you there.  Is the Board not saying here -- maybe I misunderstood it.  Is the Board not saying here if the ratepayers have to pay that $183.8 million, then they get the tax deduction for it, too?

MR. HEARD:  Yes.  It is certainly saying that, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Right.  Go on, sorry.

MR. HEARD:  It was more a point that I think the way I had taken their question was to mean was that there was $183.8 million of loss available.  That is the way -- I might have misheard the way you said it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, in keeping with the Board's original decision and the review decision, you have actually done a recalculation of the tax losses.  The 990.2 million, you have actually recalculated that in keeping with their decision.

We have that at page 73 of our materials.  You have a description of what you were supposed to do; right?

MR. HEARD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  F4, tab 2, schedule 1, page 10?

MR. HEARD:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you went through a process of recalculating the numbers consistent with those decisions; yes?

MR. HEARD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. HEARD:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If we go to page 14 of that evidence, which is page 77 of our materials, there is a chart, chart 2, which starts with the losses that you reported -- that you forecast in -- or, sorry, that you reported in EB-2007-0905, and then makes the adjustments consistent, in your mind, with the Board's decisions; correct?

MR. HEARD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And what you get to -- and I will deal with lines 11 and 12, in a minute but what you get to is an adjusted loss of $188.5 million?

MR. HEARD:  At line 10, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.  And so we see that the -- one of them, for example, is the Board said, Well, you had to eat the losses from Bruce prior to 2008, so you get the tax deductions, too.  That is $390 million; right?

MR. HEARD:  On line 5, yes, 390 million.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So that part of the 990 the ratepayers don't get?

MR. HEARD:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And now that is not indirectly put into the Bruce lease revenues variance account, is it?

MR. KOGAN:  No, it is not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's just gone?  From the ratepayers' point of view, it's just gone?

MR. KOGAN:  Consistent with the Board's findings on how loss should be calculated, how revenues and costs from Bruce should be calculated in accordance with GAAP, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the next one is line 6, 234.2 million of operating losses borne by the shareholder.  Do you see that?

MR. HEARD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That is after Bruce; right?

MR. HEARD:  Yes, it is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, so we looked at that -- I just want to make sure I understand that one.  And if you could go to K14.3, which is these tables 10 to 12 that we were talking about earlier, and if we look at line 1, column 8 -


MR. KOGAN:  Just one sec.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Go ahead.

MR. KOGAN:  For which year?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, it doesn't matter.  Any year.  Start with 2005.  We will get to all of them.

MR. KOGAN:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So line 1, column 8, you see that $3.1 dollar loss in 2005, for example.

That is your loss for accounting purposes for the prescribed facilities excluding Bruce; right?

MR. KOGAN:  On a regulatory basis, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  On a regulatory basis, understood.

So you had 3.1 million there, and we see in fact in chart 2, the chart we were looking at, a $3.1 million loss in 2005 associated with that; right?

MR. KOGAN:  Yes, that's the amount.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You're saying you ate that loss, so, therefore, you should get the benefit of the tax losses associated with it; right?

MR. HEARD:  Yes.  The reason for that is it was based on forecast production, a difference between forecast and actual production in 2005.  So when we say we ate that loss, using your words, that is the rationale behind that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  Help me.  I thought you actually lost money.  Did you not actually lose money?

MR. HEARD:  Yes.  And so, for example, in 2007, it is a larger number.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. HEARD:  So the same table, if you went to -- it should be the third page in --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Third page, yes.

MR. HEARD:  -- on line 1, table -- this is column 8.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. HEARD:  And you see on the second line, as well, an adjustment there for $231 million.  That's an adjustment for primarily the same reason, different production than actual.

So actual production for 2007 was 44.2 terawatt-hours and forecast production was 53 terawatt-hours, but we describe that in the evidence.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So help me out.

For two of these years, you lost money.  But then the middle year, 2006, you made money, $78 million.  In the same place, line 1, column 8, you made money.

But you're saying that doesn't factor into these accumulated operating losses for which you get the tax losses; right?  Why?  Why is 2006 zero, rather than an adjustment the other way?

MR. KOGAN:  2006 is not zero.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, your chart 2 has zero.

MR. KOGAN:  It shows zero as the amount of the adjustment.  So, therefore, we are sticking with the original tax loss of -- sorry, original earnings before tax of 78, which flows down to, on line 30, a loss of 84.7.

So essentially what we're saying is we are not making any adjustments.  The chart 2 you are looking at is showing the adjustments we are making to the 990, and we are not making any adjustments with respect to 2006 operating, in this case, earnings, because there are only losses in 2005 and 2007.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So -- well, no.  There is actually tax losses in all of the years; right?

MR. KOGAN:  I meant operating losses in 2005 and 2007, i.e., earnings before tax or losses before tax.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So in that three years, the actual amount of operating losses you had totalled in three years was 156.2 million, wasn't it?

MR. KOGAN:  Are you just simply adding the three years, positive and negative, on the operating line?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, 234.2 minus 78.

MR. KOGAN:  I agree with the math.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  But the amount that you say the operating losses are that belong to you, belong to the shareholder, are 234, because you wouldn't offset the 78 million; right?  Why is that?

MR. HEARD:  The original tax losses for 2005, 2006 and 2007 were calculated essentially using actual tax losses.  So this is still all based on our actual -- actual tax calculations for those years.

The only difference is in response to some of the specific directions from the Board, and I will point you to page 32 of your handout, which would be page 170 of the Board decision in EB-2007-0905.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. HEARD:  And in that, on the second bullet point -- there is a second bullet point there, and it makes a comment.  It says:

"It would appear what the operating loss in 2007 was borne completely by OPG's shareholder.  Consumers have not been required to absorb that loss because the payments for 2007 were set in 2005 and did not change.  Accordingly, in the Board's view, none of the tax benefit of that loss should accrue to consumers."

So we are looking at that sentence, and from those sentences taking the direction that we needed to re-look at the losses and attribute what was -- what losses were provided, effectively, or paid -- costs paid for by ratepayers, and what losses arose on the behalf of the shareholder or at the cost of the shareholder.

And in this case, for 2007, the most significant amount is the 2007 adjustment, and that is due to the difference in the nuclear production between the actual and the forecast, the forecast that the original -- had originally been provided to the province for the purposes of setting the rates for the interim period.

MR. SHEPHERD:  When you had a tax loss in 2007, you are actually allowed to carry that back; right?  It is an operating loss; right?  So can't you carry that back one year?

MR. KOGAN:  You can carry the tax loss.  The operating loss is at the "accounting" line, which is the earnings before taxes, if you will.  So yes, if you had a tax loss, you could carry it back.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So –-

MR. KOGAN:  But we would note there are tax losses in all three years, in 2005, '06 and '07.  And going back to the Schedule As in your K14.3, the actual tax losses are in line 30.  It actually says "taxable income" but it is negative.  So we shouldn't confuse operating losses at line 1, which is a starting point, with the tax losses.  We end up with tax losses in all three years, so there is nothing to carry back within that rate-regulated period.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The taxable income or loss is a combination of three numbers; right?  The accounting income or loss, the add-backs and the deductions?

MR. HEARD:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So if you change any one of them, you change the taxable income or loss, don't you?

MR. HEARD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Come back to chart 2.  That is this one on page 77 of our materials that we were looking at. And we see that we have on line 7: "Update of tax information for 2007."  So that is a $37 million reduction of the available losses.

And you have explained that as, basically, when you filed the tax return, the loss was less than you expected for 2007; is that right?

It is on page 17 of your evidence, which is page 80 of our material, if you want to look at it.

MR. HEARD:  Yes.  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you filed that tax return in June 2008; right?

MR. HEARD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so I presume -- that was in the middle of the EB-2007-0905 proceeding.  I presume you filed some updated information to show that the tax loss number was incorrect?  Did you?

MR. KOGAN:  No, we didn't file any updates, but I think the whole premise of the application is that it was based on the best available information at the time that it was compiled and filed, and this was a subsequent event to that, the filing of the tax return, amongst many other things.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then before I get to the bottom of it, can you just help me with line 4 there?  This is the adjustment to the timing of the parts cost deduction.

And so the balance of the deferral account at the end of 2007 was 183.8 million; right?

MR. KOGAN:  Subject to check.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's the amount of the original expenses that you had not collected yet from the ratepayers; true?  Unamortized portion?

MR. KOGAN:  As at December 31, '07, yes, that's correct.  It was the unamortized balance.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It was adjusted more later, which we are going to get to in a second.

But what I don't understand is you would then have only 147 million of losses available for that, if we know that at that time, there was 183.8 million collectible from the ratepayers.  Why is the loss only 147?

MR. KOGAN:  I think if we take a step back, the direction from EB-2007-0905, the way we have read it, was to match the timing of the recovery of the parts balance from ratepayers with the timing of when the associated tax benefit would flow to them.

Originally in our filing in the last application -- if I could refer you to page 9 of your compendium, table 8.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.

MR. KOGAN:  And if you look at line 18?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. KOGAN:  In year 2005, for example?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. KOGAN:  You see a large deduction in that single year of $258 million.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry --


MR. KOGAN:  This is another 13,001,006.  So what we --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me just stop you.

That is an actual tax deduction that you took, that OPG took in 2005 and 2006?

MR. HEARD:  Yes, it is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Go on.

MR. KOGAN:  So in our original filing, we had flown that through in those years, and it went into the calculation of the 990 of the losses.

Upon applying the OEB's decision, what we said is:  Okay, we're going to take the amount of actual amortization each year, i.e., the amount that is actually recovered from customers, and give them only the benefit that matches that amount.

So it is really an issue of timing.  The taxpayer –- sorry, the ratepayers do get the full benefit of the entire cost that we deferred and took deduction for, just that they don't get it in 2005, as in our original proposal.  They get it over the, I believe, 45 months from April 1, '05 to December 31, 2011.

So all you're seeing in chart 2 is what we're simply saying:  Okay, the amount that's still unamortized, we are going to take out of the losses prior to April 1, 2008, but we're still going to flow it through to ratepayers in subsequent years, '08, '09, 10 and '11.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I see.  This is the same discussion we had earlier about whether the Board was talking about timing or ownership of the losses; right?

MR. KOGAN:  Yes.  And at the end, just to stress, it really is a question of timing.  This benefit is being fully flown to the -- to the ratepayers.

MR. HEARD:  And I think maybe it would be a good point to add that before, this morning, when we talked about some indications, just so there isn't a thought that there is a general ability to have the shareholder taking deductions ahead of when the ratepayers get them, what I was referring to is some examples where that is not the case.

And in fact, there is the tax loss variance account and the Bruce lease variance account that will be taxable to OPG as an entity, when the Board makes its decision on those accounts, even though OPG won't be recovering those costs until over the period of a number of years, through the rate-setting process.

So in that case, OPG is paying tax ahead of time, and those amounts, obviously, in the Bruce lease variance account, plus the tax loss variance account, are far bigger than this account.

But that is just an example of where the tax happens.  Some tax that OPG pays ahead of time, this is an example of where there is a deduction available.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That is a fascinating example, because of course in the tax loss variance account, you are grossing up the amounts we owe you for the tax on them; right?

MR. KOGAN:  We are.  However, we are collecting that grossed-up balance as per our proposal over 46 months.  So if you imagine a situation where this Board issues a decision in January of 2011, OPG is essentially going to have to cut a cheque for taxes on the entire approved balance, whereas that balance, including this grossed-up tax that is in it, is only going to be collected over 46 months.

So in fact, we are prepaying tax on behalf of ratepayers.  We are just demonstrating that matching works both ways.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And we are going to pay you interest on that?

MR. KOGAN:  At the Board-approved rate, yes, but we would need to compare that to the cost of capital that OPG has.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So back to chart 2 on page 77, and now I want to get to lines 11 and 12.  And if I understand this correctly, up to the end of 2007 you say, We had losses that the ratepayers get of 188.5 million, but then we had income in Q1 2008, taxable income, of 77.6 million, and, as a result, there is only 110.9 million of losses left; is that right?

MR. HEARD:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I want to -- that came as a bit of a surprise, so I wanted to take a look at how you got there.  I want you to turn to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 118 under issue 6.11, which is at page 87 of our materials.

MR. KOGAN:  We have that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And in this, they asked the same question that was in my mind, which is you had taxable income for 2008 of $116.9 million; right?

MR. KOGAN:  Yes.  The taxable income for the entire year is 116.9.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But $77.6 million of it, you say - your answer is on page 88 - was in Q1, and the reason for that is you calculated your income for Q1 separately from the rest of the year; is that right?

MR. KOGAN:  We did apportion income between Q1 of 2008 and the rest of 2008, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no, that is not what I asked.  You actually did a calculation of your income for Q1, right, and you directly allocated some things to Q1 that applied only to that quarter, and you had a cut-off at the end of March where you had balance sheet income statement information; right?  And you used that.  Isn't that what this says?

MR. KOGAN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But then you had some items that really go over the whole year, and so those you allocated between Q1 and the other quarters; right?  That is what that last sentence says in (c)(i), the second paragraph?

MR. KOGAN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you didn't use the actuals.  You used the budget amount for those; right?

MR. KOGAN:  Sorry, the budget amount for which ones?

MR. SHEPHERD:  It says OPG used the budget amount and prorated it for the first quarter.  So you took a quarter of your budget and you said that belongs in Q1; right?

MR. HEARD:  Yes.  For items that are a little more straightforward, it would be incurred evenly throughout the year.  Like, CCA is the example given.  So because CCA is more clear-cut incurred equally in each period, so therefore we just took a quarter of it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that would also be -- for example, a pension expense is something that you would allocate that way; right?

MR. KOGAN:  Yes, we would have done that with something like pension expense.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Similarly, in something like ARC?

MR. KOGAN:  ARC is not an expense.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, sorry.  Accretion?

MR. KOGAN:  I am not sure accretion has any relevance to this, because we are into the prescribed facility world and accretion does not apply, since we have a different mechanism for recovering nuclear liabilities.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Were there any -- didn't your payment amounts change as of April 1st, 2008?  Didn't they go up about - I don't know - 9, 10 percent?

MR. KOGAN:  They did change, yes.  They went up.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And isn't Ontario generally a summer-peaking province?  Load is higher in the summer than the other three seasons; is that generally right?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.  That's been the recent experience.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So here's the thing.  In every prior year, you lost money on the prescribed facilities on an annual basis, and since nothing changed from 2007 to Q1 2008, we expected to see continued losses until March 31st.

Why didn't that happen?  How did you suddenly make a profit, when your payment amounts hadn't changed and you were in your low period?

MR. KOGAN:  Could you just restate the question?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.  2005, 2006, 2007 with a given payment amount, you lose money on your prescribed facilities.  Q1 2008, where you still - -- you don't have an increase yet, and it is not your highest production period, nonetheless suddenly you make a big profit, your biggest profit in any quarter, in what, 20 years.  How did that happen?

MR. KOGAN:  I think that there is a certain seasonality attached to this and not everything is on a straight-line basis, but I can't confirm or disagree with you with respect to other quarters that you mentioned.

MR. SHEPHERD:  We don't have the calculation of that $77.6 million.  The accounting income component of it, we don't have that anywhere in the evidence, do we?

I am going to get to the tax calculation in a second, but the accounting income component of it, we don't have that calculation, do we?  If you have it, that would be great.  I just can't find it.

[Witness panel confers]


MR. BARRETT:  While we are waiting, if I could maybe respond to one of the assumptions in your question about this being a low period.

You will have to recall that these are base load assets and designed to run as base load assets throughout the year.

So we tend to take our outages in the spring and fall periods so that we have our nuclear assets, for example, available for the winter peak and the summer peak.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Actually, your planning generally is that the first priority of periods that you have to have those facilities up is the summer, the second is the winter, and third is the shoulder periods; right?

MR. BARRETT:  That's right.  The summer peak has been the recent experience, but there is still a fairly significant winter peak.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So back to the question.

Do I have a calculation of the 20.8 --


MR. HEARD:  Just to make sure I am clarifying this correctly, because what you might be looking for might be on table 7, so Exhibit F4, tab 2, schedule 1, table 7.

That is where we have shown the calculation.  This might help, at least, where we're showing the calculations for 2005, 2006, 2007, and the first quarter of 2008.

So in this column here, we arrive on line 22 at 77.6 million of regulatory taxable income.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I don't have that in front of me.  Is it the same as table 1 attached to this interrogatory L-1-117 on page 86 of our materials?  Sorry, is that the wrong one?  I lied.  Sorry.  Page 90 of our materials.  Is that the same one that you're talking about?  Give me the reference again, please.

MR. HEARD:  It is exhibit F4, tab 2, schedule 1, table 7.  I think the schedule that you have been referring to a few moments ago was table 8, and that is the reconciliation of the 990 million in losses down to the amount being reported now.

And the alternative way to arrive at that is more of a first principles method, which is what table 7 provides, which is a calculation starting at earnings before tax and arriving at taxable income.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So your accounting income for that period was 74.9 million for that quarter; is that right?

MR. HEARD:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But what I was asking is:  Do we have somewhere the calculation of that 74.9 million, where you got it?

MR. KOGAN:  No.  There is no calculation of Q1 2008 actual earnings before tax on record.

What there is is there is a calculation of full 2008, in Exhibit C1, tab 1, schedule 1, table 7.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But that is not going to help us with the breakdown?

MR. KOGAN:  No, it will not, but if -- although I am new to this -- if I sense an undertaking, we could produce a similar table to C1-1-1, table 7, where we would reconcile our Q1 financial statements to the regulatory earnings before tax.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That would certainly be useful.  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  J14.3.

UNDERTAKING NO. J14.3:  PROVIDE RECONCILIATION OF Q1 2008 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS TO REGULATORY EARNINGS BEFORE TAX.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the reason I am asking about that is that if you go back to L1-1-18, the last page of that interrogatory response at page 90 of our materials says that your accounting income for the whole year, 2008, was only $20.8 million.

Do you see that?

MR. KOGAN:  Yes, that's correct.  The regulatory –regulatory earnings before tax was 28.8 for the full year, 2008, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I assume that means that you lost money for the rest of the year with your higher payment amounts?

MR. KOGAN:  Yes, that's correct.  And I believe that there is an explanation toward the end.  I think it is actually page 3 of that interrogatory that says that one of the primary reasons is lower than forecast nuclear production.

What that means is that it was lower than was forecast for the purposes of setting payment amounts, in EB-2007-0905.  So yes, we are at risk for our production, and our production was lower for nuclear, so that was to our detriment, and it was a loss.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that lower-than-forecast nuclear production and the higher GRC not only got rid of all of your increased payment amounts and all of the additional amounts from giving back the mitigation and the taxes, but also got rid of -- created $54.1 million of net losses; right?

MR. KOGAN:  Sorry, could you just list those three factors much slower?

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you had income built into your payment amounts; right?  Your new payment amounts?

MR. KOGAN:  A return, yes.

MR. SHPHERD:  Yeah, a return.

MR. KOGAN:  Based on forecast information.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So your lower production wiped that out, and created a loss?

MR. KOGAN:  Those factors, the primary factors that would have created, as set out in the interrogatory, would have created a loss from Q2 to Q4 of '08.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.

Still on this page, the loss for the year –- sorry, the profit for the year is 20.8.  But that converts into a taxable income of 116.9; right?

MR. HEARD:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And of that 116.9, 77.6 is allocated to Q1?

MR. HEARD:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Sorry, I'm finding some stuff that we covered already, and I am skipping it.  I know everybody is disappointed, but...

I wonder if you could turn to, if I can find it, page 98 of our materials.  This is CME Interrogatory No. 30, L-5-30, under Issue 10.2.

Do you have that?

MR. HEARD:  Yes, we do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have -- oh-oh...

On the second page of this, you talk about the components of your 341.2 million.  And we've gone over this already, and I want to make sure that I've got these matched up correctly.

MR. KOGAN:  Shall I take you to KT1.8?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am already quite confused enough.

If I understand what you're saying here, you've got two amounts.

You've got the 168.7 million at the bottom of page 98 here; right?  That's the mitigation amount, which we talked about?

And then these amounts on the next page, which you call amounts of taxes, these are the taxes before gross-up –- no, sorry.

The first two numbers, 33.1 million and 12.6 million, are the taxes before gross-up that should have been included in your payment amounts; right?

MR. KOGAN:  Not quite.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. KOGAN:  It actually is the regulatory income taxes that we were asked -- we were ordered to forego as part of the EB-2007-0905, on a grossed-up basis, but not taking into account the additional taxes that would have arisen had -- we were not asked to reduce our revenue requirement by the 22 percent.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  No, sorry.  I am trying to disaggregate it.  I understand that's what you're saying, but you have here, for example, April to December 2008, you have 33.1 million.  That's a tax amount before gross-up and without considering the mitigation amount; right?

MR. KOGAN:  No.  That is not correct.  If you read underneath in the bracket, it says:  "Foregone taxes plus associated gross-up."

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay.  Less the losses that you believe the ratepayers are entitled to, which have a value of $50.3 million?

MR. KOGAN:  The appropriate prorated amount at nine 21sts, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So that's a net.

And the same with 2009.  You have 41.3 million, less 12 21sts of 50.3 million, is 12.6 million; right?

MR. KOGAN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So that is the tax component already offsetting the losses.

Then you have, in addition, these two amounts, 33.2 million and 43.3 million, which total the 76.6 we talked about earlier, which is the tax on the mitigation amount?  It is the gross-up of the mitigation amount; right?

MR. KOGAN:  I wouldn't characterize it as the gross-up.  It is the tax that would have arisen had our revenue requirement not been reduced by 168 million for the 22 percent of the deficiency.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So if you add up those numbers, you will get magically to 341.2 million.  But -- no, you won't.  You will get 290.9 million; right?  Which is the net amount after the application of the losses?

MR. KOGAN:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So this calculation is based on your Board-approved revenue requirement from the previous payments amounts case?  When you do these calculations, you are not assuming what actually happened, whether you made more money or less money, you're saying:  This is what should have been the case then, based on what we forecast; right?

MR. KOGAN:  Correct.  And I believe actually this was a misunderstanding that we corrected in some of the Board Staff interrogatories, where we explicitly stated that the actual tax position in '08, '09 and '10 is not relevant.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Good.  Okay.

So then I think I found that Board Staff interrogatory that you are referring to, and it is at page 84 of our materials.

Board Staff Interrogatory 117, which is L-1-117, under Issue 6.11.  Do you see that?

MR. KOGAN:  Sorry, what page of your materials?

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is page 84 of our materials.

MR. KOGAN:  84?

No.  I think I was referring to a different interrogatory.  I can point you to that.  Just give me one moment.

MR. SHEPHERD:  My notes say 117, but I agree with you, it doesn't look like what I thought it was supposed to say. 
MR. KOGAN:  Actually, it was Board Staff Interrogatory 144.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Under issue?

MR. KOGAN:  Sorry, pardon me.  Issue 10.2.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I'm sorry, I haven't included that in my materials.  I think I have included the wrong one.

MR. KOGAN:  So I think the question that interrogatory, it was driving at trying to look at the actual tax position in 2008 and 2009 and tying that to tax loss variance account, and we responded that the premise of looking at actual regulatory tax for those years for that purpose was not relevant.

As you mentioned, it is appropriate to go back and look at what would have been on a forecast basis, because that is how the payment amounts were set.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I was right.  117 is the correct one I want to look at.

Can you go back to that, page 84?

MR. KOGAN:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So what Board Staff asked you to do is calculate the income taxes that you would have paid before mitigation if you got the entire revenue requirement, the increased revenue requirement before mitigation, of $6.2 billion.

MR. KOGAN:  Can I just stop you right there?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. KOGAN:  I think that 6.173 is not accurately characterized as the revenue requirement before mitigation, because, as you can see at lines 29 to 31 of the response, it already says that 6,173.0 million already does not include any regulatory income tax.

So if you recall, the Board's direction originally was, Set your income taxes to zero, and then, on top of that, reduce your revenue requirement by the 168.

So 6,173 is a number that has already been reduced by 168, but there is -- but, in addition, there is a tax amount of zero built into 6,173, because that was the second part of the Board's ordered revenue requirement reduction.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Page 86 of our materials is table 1 to your response, and it has a calculation.  Is this calculation the higher number or the number the Board Staff asked you about?

MR. KOGAN:  This is the response to the interrogatory, so, yes, it is the correct number.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  Is it the -- the 6.8 -- sorry, the 6.38 million number or the 6.17 million -- billion?  Sorry, billion.  Which number is this based on?

MR. KOGAN:  The question asks to compute the amount of taxes before mitigation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. KOGAN:  Mitigation is both the 22 percent deficiency, which is 168, and the foregone tax expense of, I think it is, 66 million before gross-up.

So I think you are only thinking that mitigation was 168, and we're saying, that, no, the mitigation was 168 and the foregone taxes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is one of the perils of being a cross-examiner, is that the witnesses always think that you've got something sneaky planned.  I just want TO know which number you started with, the higher revenue number or the lower revenue number.  You say the Board Staff number, 6.173 billion is wrong.

Did you use that wrong number, or did you use the corrected number?

MR. KOGAN:  The corrected number.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

And here is why I am asking that question, because if you take a look at page -- at line 19 of table 1, do you see that on page 86 of our materials?

MR. KOGAN:  Yes, I do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That is your regulatory taxable income; right?

MR. KOGAN:  As per the calculation, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  So this is what you say you should have gotten if there had been no mitigation at all, all taxes included, everything?

MR. KOGAN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So those two items, those two years, total $552.3 million.  Will you accept that subject to check?  You can check if you want.

MR. KOGAN:  Yes, I do, on line 19 for taxable income.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So then let's go back to page 11 of our materials -- no, sorry, page 6 of our materials - I'm confusing myself - which is page 11 of your F3, tab 2, schedule 1 in the previous decision.  Do you see that?

MR. KOGAN:  Just confirming, we are on page 6 of your compendium?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. KOGAN:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have said in this -- at the bottom of the page, on line 30, you said that you had -- you were reducing the projected regulatory taxable income in those two years by - and you see at the top of the next page - 163 and 324, which I get -- is $487 million?

MR. KOGAN:  The addition is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.

So why would -- and then after that, the Board reduced your ROE and changed your -- they didn't give you everything you wanted, so your actual regulatory taxable income would in fact have been less after the Board's decision; right?

It wouldn't have been $487 million, because that included a higher ROE and a different capital structure; right?

MR. KOGAN:  Just one moment.

[Witness panel confers]


MR. KOGAN:  If this is kind of the penultimate question, is it all right if I checked it over the break and if you could restate the question?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, let me get to the punch line first.  Sorry, I guess I shouldn't be so cavalier.

I will restate the question.  You had a total taxable income that you expected in your application of $487 million; right?

MR. KOGAN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you are reducing it to zero with your mitigation plan.  But the Board didn't give you everything you asked for, including not as much ROE, and, as a result, your regulatory taxable income at the end of the calculation would have been less; right?  Forget the mitigation amount.  It just would have been less, because you got a lower ROE; right?

MR. KOGAN:  If I may, I think there is a good way to answer your question.  You are talking about taxable income; correct?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. KOGAN:  And taxable income is after a number of deductions.

Our original calculation -- and if it helps, if you can flip to page 8 of your compendium, which is our original table 7 of the tax calculation, that included Bruce.  So that included prescribed facilities in Bruce, and that also included not just accounting or regulatory earnings before tax.  It also included deductions related to Bruce, in particular, segregated fund deductions for the contributions.

So I don't think that you can make that comparison that you are trying to, because you are doing apples to oranges.  You're looking at a post Bruce number and comparing with the pre Bruce number, and then trying to make some adjustments for lower ROE.  So I think that that should reconcile that difference in your mind, sir.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, you're right.  There was an undertaking coming on.

I was actually hoping not to, but -- and that is:  Can you reconcile that 487 million that you said you started with in your last application with the 553 million that we just talked about that is now in your evidence as what you say you would have earned in those two years?  Just tell us how you got from one to the other.

MR. KOGAN:  We could, but I would suggest that generally I think we have laid everything out in the evidence as you move from one to the -- from one step to the other.  I think you have taken kind of the first and the last step.

MR. BARRETT:  I think what Mr. Kogan is saying is that we will undertake to do that reconciliation.

[Laughter]

MR. MILLAR:  J14.4.

MR. SMITH:  Sure.
UNDERTAKING NO. J14.4:  TO RECONCILE TOTAL TAXABLE INCOME NUMBER OF $487 MILLION FROM LAST APPLICATION TO $553 MILLION IN THIS APPLICATION.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's a good translator.

Okay.  So this whole calculation of the losses available to the ratepayers operates on the premise that some parts of the losses don't belong to the ratepayers, and whatever is left belongs to them; right?  That is how you calculated it?

MR. HEARD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So we took a much simpler view and we said if you're asking the taxpayer to pick up the tab for an amount you spent prior to 2008, then we should get the tax deductions associated with that amount.

That is what the Board said is the principle; right?  We pick up the tab, we get the tax deductions; right?

MR. HEARD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so to assess that, we looked at your evidence in this proceeding, which is H1, tab 1, schedule 1, table 1A, which is at page 100 of our materials.

Do you have that?

MR. KOGAN:  Page 100, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So this is a list of your deferral and variance accounts as of March 31st, 2008.  These are -- this total amount, 356.4 million, this is an amount that you expect us to pay, and some of these amounts are amounts that you got tax deductions for earlier; right?

MR. KOGAN:  Yes.  And I would say, also, that part of that 356.4, because it represents a cumulative balance, is already being amortized and collected through rates, because part of it -- there is an approved balance at 2007 for parts in the nuclear liability deferral account.

MR. HEARD:  Certainly those two -- if I could add there -- certainly those two lines, 8 and 9, on this table are by far the majority of the table, and the Pickering return-to-service deferral, I think we have sort of discussed the timing of that, but that is being provided to ratepayers, that deduction.

And the nuclear liability deferral portion of that relates to things like depreciation, which are non-tax deductible.

MR. SHEPHERD:  These -- what I want to do is I want to walk through these numbers, and you can tell me which -- of these, which ones have you taken tax deductions for and how much.

MR. KOGAN:  Just to clarify, when you say "we" you're saying OPG?

MR. SHEPHERD:  OPG.

MR. KOGAN:  As in actual company?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. KOGAN:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Which ones have you taken tax deductions for prior to April 1st, 2008.

Start with Pickering A return-to-service deferral account.  You have taken tax deductions for that entire 162.3 million prior to April 1st, 2008; correct?

MR. KOGAN:  I'm sorry, we were just conferring.  Could you repeat the question?  I'm sorry.

MR. SHEPHERD:  On line 8, that 162.3 million under Pickering A return-to-service deferral account, that entire amount you have taken tax deductions for prior to April 1st, 2008?

MR. HEARD:  OPG has, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Good.  No, I didn't think you did personally.  I was assuming it was OPG.

Although, hey...

MR. HEARD:  That would be nice.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And if you have that much income, we have to go back to management compensation.

MR. HEARD:  Exactly.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The next one is nuclear liability deferral account, and you said some of that you have and some of that you haven't.  Do you know how much of that you have taken in deductions prior to April 1st, 2008?  Is that something you can calculate?

MR. HEARD:  That might be one if we just had a chance to check in after the break --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am going to go through them, and we may have sort of an omnibus undertaking that flows out of this.

The nuclear development variance account, 15.6 million, do you know whether that is something that was deductible at the time it was spent?

MR. HEARD:  That one, I believe so, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then you have these next two, 11 and 12, these are actually offsets; right?  There was a misallocation and you fixed it?

MR. KOGAN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So let's just ignore that.

Then let's go back up to the two hydroelectric ones.  The water conditions variance, now, that is not something you actually spent; right?  That is actually something that you didn't collect revenues; true?

MR. KOGAN:  That's correct.  That's a shortfall in revenues.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But it has the same effect as if you had a deduction?  That is, it reduced your taxes; right?

MR. KOGAN:  Yes.  That's correct.  We would not have paid tax on that $8 million.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Similarly with line 2, the ancillary services?

MR. KOGAN:  I believe they function the same way, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So the only one that we're not sure of, then, is this line 9.  We don't know how much you took as deductions prior to April 1st, 2008.

Is that something you can estimate?  I don't want to put you to a lot of trouble to get an exact --


MR. HEARD:  Probably after the break, we might be able to.  It is just that it's -- because it is comprised of depreciation and a number of other items, we would want to have a look at that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So here's -- so I guess -- by the way, just before we leave this, line 8, we had this discussion about whether the 183.8 million was correct.  But you see that there, the end of 2007, you have actually adjusted for that in Q1 2008; right?  You said:  We collected some of that already, before the payment amounts came into effect?

MR. KOGAN:  That's correct.  And we've also included that as a deduction in that period.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Of course, which it should be, sure.

MR. KOGAN:  To the ratepayers, I mean, deduction in calculating for the ratepayers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no.  That was before your payment amounts order, so it wasn't actually for account of the ratepayers; right?

MR. HEARD:  Because it is included as part of the loss calculation, effectively it is provided to the ratepayers through the calculation of the -- it affects the balance in the tax loss variance account.

So if we have shown it as a deduction in that period, then it would have affected the amount of the tax losses available post-April 1, 2008.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But it would have reduced those losses?

MR. KOGAN:  No, it would not.  Effectively, when -- before we were looking at -- I think it was $110 million of losses, which translated into about 50.3 of benefit.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. KOGAN:  Once we recalculated that, we applied the principle of matching the amount that we've amortized for parts, in other words collected from ratepayers.  And in this case, in the first quarter, that amount was 24.1.

And we have included corresponding deduction in that calculation of tax losses, coming up with the tax losses available at March 31, 2008.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I don't understand.  So it increased the tax losses available to the ratepayers?  Or reduced them?

MR. KOGAN:  Relative to -- I think -- relative to what?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry.  You made an adjustment.  Which way do it go?

MR. KOGAN:  Okay.  Maybe I will just go back to what I said earlier regarding parts.

In our original proposal, we deducted the full amount of, let's say it was 250, 260 million dollars when the costs were incurred, and actually deducted by OPG as a company, mostly in '05.

We then took the Board's direction and we said:  We're going to provide that deduction to ratepayers over time as the balance is recovered.

And so in totality, if you look at April 1, '08, yes, we did reduce the losses at that point in time, because there is a portion that was to be amortized post-April 1, '08, up until the end of 2011.

And that portion is essentially 162 million that you see here at the end of 2008.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So that is the amount that we're entitled to the losses for, is 162.3?

MR. KOGAN:  And we are providing it to the ratepayers, '08 to '11, in the period '08 to '11.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so am I right in understanding, then, that once we have these numbers right, in this column E on this table 1A, my simple mind says if these are amounts you're asking us to pay and you have already taken the tax deductions, then we get the tax benefit of these now; right?

And if it is not right, can you explain why that is not true?

MR. KOGAN:  Well, I think we have to go back to the Board's decision in EB-2007-0905 with regard to the matching principle.  And --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, can I just stop you for a second?  Because I want to take this bit by bit to make sure I understand it.

MR. KOGAN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let's first talk about how much we get, and then when we get it.

MR. KOGAN:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So am I right that from just the first-principles point of view, if we have to -- let's say all of this amount, this 356.4 million, is all money that the ratepayers have to pay at some point after April 1st, 2008, and that OPG took tax deductions for prior to April 1st, 2008.  Now, I know it is not exactly correct, but let's just assume the simple hypothetical for the time being.

MR. HEARD:  Well, and just -- one point we just want to make sure we have clarified is that there is not a tax deduction associated with some of this amount.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand.

MR. HEARD:  So some of this amount relates to depreciation, and specifically in that nuclear liability deferral account --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand.  I am just trying to take the simple example, and then we will figure out the details later.

So the simple example is tax deductions all before April 1st, 2008.  Ratepayers pay for it all after April 1st, 2008.

Do you agree that that amount, the 356.4, is the deductions that we should be entitled to the tax deductions for; right?

MR. KOGAN:  If we're putting aside the time periods, yes.  The answer is "yes".

MR. HEARD:  Along with the fact that a portion of that 356.4 is not tax deductible; right?

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have certainly made that point, Mr. Heard.

[Laughter]

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I am going to an area that may be a bit complicated, and if you -- so if this would be an appropriate time to break, I am happy.

MR. KOGAN:  Mr. Shepherd, if you wanted to close off, we could very quickly close off your previous question how much of the nuclear deferral account -- would be helpful?

MR. SHEPHERD:  If you know it now.

MR. KOGAN:  I could do it by way of reference.  I have the breakdown we provided in the last application at J1, tab 1, schedule 1, page 12.  And it is an embedded chart in a Word document where we showed -- it was actually the 2007 balance, but it should give you a very good idea.  It showed about $134 million at that time.  And, essentially, about 7 to 8 million of that was tax deductible.  Everything else was not tax deductible.

So when Mr. Heard was reiterating the point we're basically talking about a relatively small amount in comparison to the total balance of the account.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So -- and the rest of it would not be tax -- there would be no CCA?  You would have to back out the depreciation, but you don't get any CCA?

MR. KOGAN:  There is no CCA on asset retirement costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So --


MR. HEARD:  What you get is contributions to the seg fund.   That's a tax deduction.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You did get those?

MR. HEARD:  But those didn't change as a result of the adjustment that we're talking about.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So, Madam Chair, if that is a convenient time?

MS. CHAPLIN:  Sure.  We will break now for 15 minutes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 2:45 p.m.


--- On resuming at 3:09 p.m.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.

Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  For the benefit of anybody who is scheduling, I expect to be another 15 or 20 minutes.

So I would like to turn to the last area I want to deal with, which is the losses associated with the Bruce lease. 

So if you can turn back to page 77 of our materials, which is F4, tab 2, schedule 1, page 14 of your evidence in this proceeding, we have identified that the losses associated with the Bruce lease, the tax losses are $390 million; right?

MR. HEARD:  Yes, that's correct, for the '05, '06 and '07.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And this is -- well, now, just let me ask you a question about that, just so I can clear something up.

This says -- this only has '05, '06 and '07.  It doesn't have the Q1 2008, but the title says it includes Q1 2008.

Were there losses on Bruce in Q1 2008? 

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. KOGAN:  If we could refer you to the Technical Conference transcript, page 113, that was in response to Board Staff question No. 30. 

MR. HEARD:  In there, in response to that question, we mentioned that the Bruce tax loss for the first quarter 2008, calculated on a GAAP basis, was approximately 45 million.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Thank you. 

Now, these total tax losses associated with Bruce, your understanding of the previous decisions is that the ratepayers don't get the benefit of these tax losses, because the losses to which they relate occurred prior to April 1st, 2008; right?

MR. HEARD:  Yes. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Post-April 1st, 2008, there is a variance account, so that depending on how much you get from Bruce, you either get recovery from the ratepayers if you didn't get as much as you expected, and you pay more to the ratepayers if you got more than you expected; right? 

MR. KOGAN:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So we looked to see whether these tax losses figure into that in any way, and so if you could go to page 101 of our materials, this is your evidence, H1-1-1, table 10.

Do you see that? 

MR. HEARD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And this is your calculation of the amount that the ratepayers owe you for 2008, '09 and '10?

MR. KOGAN:  Yes.  Subject to 2010 being a forecast at the time that this was filed. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, exactly. 

And if you go to the next page, the last page of our materials, 102, you see the calculation of that for each year; right? 

MR. KOGAN:  Yes, that's a sub-table that feeds into the first table you showed us, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I am looking at April 1st to December 31st, 2008, and in that period there was a tax loss associated with Bruce; right? 

MR. KOGAN:  There was a credit to income tax expense computed on a GAAP basis, associated with Bruce. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  My question was:  Was there a tax loss associated with Bruce?  That's why you have the credit; right?  Because there was a tax loss?

MR. HEARD:  Well, to clarify that, the Board had instructed that, given that the Bruce facilities or Bruce lease was determined to be not regulated, that therefore we were to use a GAAP basis to calculate a tax provision. 

So included in that line, there is a current tax plus future tax expense. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.
MR. HEARD:  So because of that -- and it could be just a terminology thing, because sometimes when using the term "tax loss" someone might just be thinking about the current tax.  But this is just referring to the sum of the current and future tax, is a 70.1 negative number there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  But actually what I am getting at is that that is current only.  There is no loss carry-forwards included in this at all; right?  That is simply the calculation of your accounting income for that period and the tax provision that would fall out of it?

MR. HEARD:  Yes. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Wonderful. 

We don't have that calculation of that amount anywhere in the evidence, do we?  That 70.1 million?

MR. KOGAN:  Actually, if you refer to Exhibit G2, tab 1, schedule 1, table 8, it shows the calculation of income taxes for Bruce for 2008 and 2009 -- pardon me, it was Exhibit G2, tab 2, schedule 1, table 8.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You keep finding things that I haven't found.  Good.  Thank you.  Clears that up easily.

So the various expenses here in table 10A, the last page of our materials, these various expenses, they're not all deductible for tax purposes; right? 

MR. HEARD:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Because there's timing differences, and some things are deducted in different years; right? 

MR. HEARD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But the amount that the ratepayers are expected to pay is calculated based on GAAP?

MR. HEARD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The accounting basis?  Okay.

So then I would like you to go, if you could, please, to the Ernst & Young report, which is now in K14.3, and is also tables 10 to 12 of your tax material. 

MR. KOGAN:  Okay.  We're there. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so let's just start on page for 2005, and we will see if we understand how the structure is, and then I will ask you to get some totals for the previous -- for the other two years. 

If I understand this right, you start with -- column 1 is basically the tax return; right?  As we said earlier?

MR. HEARD:  Yes.  Although technically, it is column 1 plus column 2, because -- and it is only because OPG has multiple legal entities, and therefore you have to take all of the tax returns.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then column 3 is the -- so column 3 is the tax return for OPG, the entity; right? 

MR. HEARD:  Column 3 is the sum of columns 1 and 2, and all it really is, then, is all tax returns for OPG's legal entities.

So the regulated business may be falling into multiple legal entities, and if that were the case, then you would probably be looking at column 3. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  The regulated --


MR. HEARD:  Like, if we had multiple subsidiaries or things like that, legal entities.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The regulated business all falls into one company; right? 

MR. HEARD:  I am just thinking back as to the timing of amalgamation of some of those entities. 

So I would need to --


MR. SHEPHERD:  We absolutely do not need another complication if it is not material to this issue.

MR. HEARD:  It is not material.  All you need to worry about, really, is column 3 being the sum of the tax returns.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Wonderful.

Then you backed out in column 4 the unregulated component.  So you have, for example, you have -- if you see column 3, line 1, you have $558 million of earnings.  That is accounting earnings; right? 

MR. HEARD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then you deduct from that 279.4, which is the unregulated component of that earnings; right? 

MR. HEARD:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  To get to 278.9, which is your regulated earnings, including Bruce?

MR. HEARD:  On an accounting basis.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  Then you deduct from that 109.1 million, which is your earnings -- your accounting earnings from Bruce; right?  That is in column 6.

MR. HEARD:  I believe the 109.1 million is on a regulatory basis.  That is for Bruce.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  Understood, but that's -- sorry.

MR. HEARD:  So we are we are pulling out on a regulatory basis, but then in column 7, with some other adjustments, there are -- there's a need to, therefore, take out or make adjustments for any differences between accounting and regulatory basis.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So there are some earnings in column 5, regulated earnings, that are on an accounting basis, but not on a regulatory basis?

MR. KOGAN:  Column 5 is on an accounting basis.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So column 7 then adjusts between accounting and regulatory?

MR. HEARD:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Wonderful.  So, in fact, then you get to column 8, which is your regulatory income or loss after deducting -- after making those adjustments; right?

MR. HEARD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so I am just looking now at the Bruce column.  So the Bruce column -- if I understand this correctly, the Bruce column says, in 2005, your earnings before tax on a regulatory basis were 109.1 million; right?

MR. HEARD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then you had add-backs, if you see at line 15, of 140.2 million?

MR. HEARD:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so that -- by my math, that gets you to 249.3 of income before tax deductions.  And then in line 26, you have the deductions that the Tax Act allows of 303.1 million; is that right?

MR. HEARD:  Yes, with a bit of a qualifier.  And not trying to make things a bit complicated here, but the best place to look at this is on Exhibit F4, tab 2, schedule 1, table 16 --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, which has different numbers.  I'm going to come to that.

MR. HEARD:  -- which has only -- I believe there is only one major difference, and is on the CCA claim.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. HEARD:  And if I can get you to pull up that, on table 16, what you will see there is there is the same --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  Give us a second.

MR. HEARD:  Sure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I have that up, but it is not in our materials.  So it is F4, tab 2, schedule 1, table 16.  So if our AV whiz in the back row can put it on the screen?

MR. BUONAGURO:  F4, tab 2, schedule 1?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Table 16.  If Mr. Buonaguro ends up not wanting to practice law anymore, there is another job available for him.  Okay, go ahead.  Sorry, Mr. Kogan.

MR. HEARD:  So in this column, if we look at 2005, and we have the regulatory earnings before tax of 109.1, which agrees to the schedule which we were looking at on the other page, and we see the total additions of 143 -- 140.3 million, which is the same as the 140.2.  There is a small rounding difference, but all works out.

And then if we look at the deductions, the deductions are the same numbers except for the CCA.  And, therefore, the CCA on table 16 is the correct CCA.

The reason why it was shown -- so, for example, I guess I am referring to line 16 on the schedule you were pointing out, which is the reconciliation looked at by Ernst & Young, where you see 46.4 million.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. HEARD:  And then on table 16, there is a CCA number of 12.5 million.  And the lower numbers for CCA for Bruce were as a result of the tax audit, where, as I mentioned earlier, about -- there is some reclassification of amounts between certain classes, and this was known at the time of the last hearing.

The only reason why we had to show the higher amount on column 6 of the schedule that you were getting us to look at there was we were comparing it to the tax returns as originally filed, and we knew we were making this adjustment, but it got made after the tax return was originally filed in 2005.  But we knew that before the last hearing.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So when Ernst & Young did this analysis, did they know about that?

MR. HEARD:  Yes.  So what you will see is it is actually in column 7, the other adjustments.  See how there is a line there for 3.3 million?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. HEARD:  I know that doesn't look small -- or that looks small compared to the difference here between the 46.4 CCA on this schedule and the 12.5 million on table 16, but that is only because, when we're comparing the column 6 number of 46.4 million compared to the table 16 amount for CCA, which is line number 9 on that schedule, of 12.5, that is only relating to Bruce.

But, as I mentioned earlier, when the CCA change was made as a result of the audit, all of that was is a reclassification between certain classes and the net impact was 3.3 million.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the Bruce CCA went down after the audit and the CCA for other things went up?

MR. HEARD:  Other things went up, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  As a result, there was a net $3.3 million difference.

So this column 6 should be adjusted to reflect that $33.9 million difference?  The 46.4 should be 12.5?

MR. HEARD:  And then you would just have a -- it is just a matter of one column would be going up and one column would be going down.  You would still end up at the revised regulatory column 8 of 304.5 million.  That is the right number.  It is just a matter of how you want to show it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So the same thing is true in the next two years; right?

MR. HEARD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have an adjustment to the CCA number, which is the reason why the Ernst & Young numbers and your table 16 don't match, but that is the only difference; right?

MR. KOGAN:  They may also be a very small reclassification of a couple of million dollars between the depreciation line and the waste management expenses line, but it is simply a reclassification.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't actually want to know about that one if it is only a couple of million dollars, thank you.

MR. KOGAN:  I'm just answering the question.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Actually, now that I understand the difference between table 16 and the Ernst & Young report, table 16 is a simpler document.  So I am going to ask you these remaining questions based on that, if I can change around a bit.

So here's what I am trying to understand.  You actually had income from Bruce in each of those years.  The total income for those three years is about $372 million; is that right?

MR. HEARD:  Yes, that's correct, before tax; right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you had tax losses associated with that income; right?

MR. HEARD:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the reason is because the additions -- these additions here in line 7, the additions total $443 million; right?

MR. KOGAN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But the deductions that you got for tax purposes total around 1.150 billion.  Am I in the right ballpark?

MR. HEARD:  Yes.  I think it was 1.2 billion.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So here's what I want to understand.

You didn't actually have losses prior to 2008, but your position is that the tax losses belong to OPG, not to the ratepayers; right?

MR. HEARD:  The terminology of tax losses is really only relevant when Bruce is considered to be a regulated asset.  When Bruce was originally proposed to be a regulated asset, we didn't look at future income tax.  All we did was look at current income tax, and that is how the concept of the tax loss terminology was coming up.  But on an accounting basis, on a GAAP accounting basis, you are quite right, the -- for 2005, '06 and '07, there is actually a net tax expense for those years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  See, here's what I am trying to get.  The Board said:  If you have to eat the losses, you get the tax losses.

But you didn't have any losses.  So why do you get the tax losses?

MR. KOGAN:  I think we are getting a bit confused on too many losses in one sentence.  Could you try that again?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Let's try it again.

You didn't have a loss for accounting purposes prior to 2008.  You had a profit for accounting purposes.  But --


MR. KOGAN:  You mean in relation to Bruce, you're referring to?

MR. SHEPHERD:  The Bruce.  We're talking about Bruce.

So you had a profit, but you want the tax losses anyway; right?  But you didn't actually incur those losses, did you?  Because they weren't real losses, they were only tax losses, weren't they?

MR. HEARD:  I think what we're saying is that there is no tax loss to provide.  So when we show a calculation removing tax losses from the previous loss carry-forward amount that we had originally shown, last rate application, of 990 million, the amount that we're taking out of that 990 million relates to the Bruce tax loss as it was originally calculated, on the assumption that Bruce was a regulated facility.

But there would be actually -- you know, under the concept that Bruce is not regulated, therefore unregulated, it doesn't have a tax loss.  It has a tax expense, and you are right in that respect.

MR. KOGAN:  The other way of looking at it, Mr. Shepherd, if it helps, is once the Board determined that, as Mr. Heard alluded, Bruce was not to be treated as a regulated asset, these losses essentially become commingled with the rest of the unregulated business of OPG.

So they don't exist.  And as such, they are being pulled out of the 990 that we originally put forward as part of the comprehensive proposal that Mr. Barrett alluded to, where Bruce was treated like a regulated asset.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I guess the way I look at it, you have a Bruce lease net revenues variance account, and that is calculated on a GAAP basis; right?

MR. KOGAN:  Effective April 1, 2008.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it is calculated on a GAAP basis; right?

MR. KOGAN:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So whatever the GAAP expenses are if they're greater than what is included in your forecast, we have to pay them; right?

MR. KOGAN:  And vice versa, yes.

MR. HEARD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Right.  In the period prior to 2008, you had $443 million of GAAP expenses, for which you took $1.2 billion of tax expenses.

That is a timing difference; right?

MR. KOGAN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that means that there's $757 million – billion –- no, millions, 757 million -- I can't keep the billions and millions straight -- of deductions that sooner or later, on a GAAP basis, we're going to have to pay; right?  Because it comes back in the end; right?  It ends up at zero; right?  The timing difference always ends up at zero?

MR. KOGAN:  Yes, timing differences do end up at zero, but if you could just give us a moment...

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. HEARD:  I think that the key thing there to make a point about is the fact that because OPG is required to utilize GAAP to calculate a tax provision for the Bruce lease, what happens there in the recognition of current and future taxes, if we look back to 2005, '06 and '07, what actually happened in those years is there was a bunch of timing differences, as you pointed out, that created the tax loss in those years, and that timing differences would have resulted in a future tax expense at that point in time.

So back in 2005, '06 and '07, there would have been a future tax expense recorded on the books of OPG.

And what happens, then, is those timing differences reverse in the future.

So the ratepayers do get the benefit of that by virtue of using GAAP to calculate the taxes from April 1, 2008 onward.  There's reversal of those.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You already took the 757 million of deductions already; right?

MR. KOGAN:  They were taken for, on a taxes-payable, on a current-tax basis.

But under GAAP, as you pointed out, if I have a temporary or timing deduction in a prior period, at some point, it unwinds.  So in essence, there is going to be a future income tax expense.

MR. HEARD:  Future income tax credit.

MR. KOGAN:  Pardon me, there would be a future income tax credit.

MR. HEARD:  A future income tax credit when the -- so what would have happened there, just to clarify, is that back in '05, '06 and '07, if there were some deductions, they're purely timing differences in those years.  We would have had a future tax expense as a company, a current deduction and a future tax expense.

And the future tax, just the way the accounting works under that, it will reverse in the future.  So we would have had a future tax liability that reverses in 2008 and onward.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am looking at your table 16.  And table 16 says, in those three years, you took deductions totalling about $1.2 billion on your tax returns; right?  These are on your tax returns?

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. SHEPHERD:  Want me to repeat the question?

MR. HEARD:  Yes, please.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If you look at line 12, you took a total of about $1.2 billion of deductions on your tax returns, and you saved tax as a result.  Yes?

MR. HEARD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that was about, what, that's about, relative to your accounting deductions, it is about $250 million in tax you saved, give or take?  Am I in the ballpark?

MR. HEARD:  Ballpark, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you've already got those tax savings; right?  The money is in your pocket?

MR. HEARD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Right?  We're going to have to eat those accounting expenses.  When they become accounting expenses later, we're going to have to pay them; right?  One way or another, because it is net zero on Bruce lease revenues; right?  So one way or another, it is going to be out of our pockets; right?

MR. HEARD:  No.  I disagree, actually.  I think what - this is difficult to explain, but I will try it one more time.

Back in 2005, '06 and '07, you're referring to only the deductions, right now, taken, which caused the regulatory earnings before tax to be taken into a negative balance, a taxable loss number.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am referring to both, sorry.  I am referring to the net difference between the two, the timing difference, the 750 --


MR. HEARD:  The sum of the two, yeah, okay.  But when we were talking about the 1.2 billion, that is why I thought you were just talking about the deductions.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand.

MR. HEARD:  And with that, there would have been, under a GAAP basis of accounting in '05, '06 and '07, there would have been a current tax -- if the losses could have been utilized in that year, there would have been a current tax savings and a future tax expense recorded.

What happens going forward, because we're required to use GAAP, is the future taxes that were set up in 2005, '06 and '07 reverse, as these timing differences reverse.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. HEARD:  And as a result, those, when they reverse their credits, like, if the tax expense in the future will be reduced each year.

MR. KOGAN:  And if -- I'm sorry.

MR. HEARD:  Go ahead.

MR. KOGAN:  I was going to say at the end of the day, the ratepayers will receive the benefit of these net deductions in years 5 to 7 that you are referring to.

And that will be through the operation of the GAAP accounting future income tax expense.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But it will take a long time; right?  It will take many years for the timing differences to be played out; true?

MR. KOGAN:  It will take a certain amount of time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's not next year?

MR. KOGAN:  Not for all of it, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay, come on.  $757 million, how much of that are we going to get next year, ten, none, because it hasn't yet got to the crossover point?  You said not all of it.  Okay, how much?

MR. KOGAN:  I wouldn't venture a guess.  I can't speculate.  I haven't done that calculation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You can actually calculate how the timing differences play out over time; right?  In fact, you have to do that calculation in order to do your future tax expense, don't you?

MR. BARRETT:  I think one of the things that we're missing here is that prior to --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me just stop you for a second.

MR. SMITH:  No.  Let him answer the question.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I asked a question and I want the answer.

MR. BARRETT:  I think one of the things that we're missing here is, prior to April 1, 2008, these assets, the Bruce assets, are part of our unregulated operations.  They're not regulated.

So there's no -- whatever happens there, either tax benefits or tax losses, accrue to the company.

So as at April 1, 2008, when the variance account becomes established, there is nothing to be brought forward.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm going to ask the question again.  In order to calculate your future tax expense, you have to actually forecast the timing differences and how they play out; right?  That is part of the calculation.  And you have that document, don't you?

MR. HEARD:  I am not sure off the top of my head.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm going to ask you to undertake to provide that calculation for when we get it back and how much.  Just show us year by year -- show us the calculation.  It is in your accountant's working papers, as we know.

MR. KOGAN:  It may not be precisely year by year, but it would be in chunks of time period, potentially, so just subject to that caveat.

MR. HEARD:  And I guess just before taking that, I think the thing that my colleague was commenting on is we're not sure to the relevance of it, because -- for a number of reasons.

In terms of the calculation of the tax loss variance account, I think we've seen that in the Board findings they've specifically instructed us to not include the Bruce lease.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Did you tell -- in the last payment decision, did you tell the Board that you had $757 million of excess deductions for tax purposes that had not been taken for accounting purposes?  Did you tell them that?

MR. KOGAN:  We indicated in an undertaking, certainly, that there would be an amount of losses that would be adjusted out.  We haven't calculated it ourselves at that time, but --


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the Board didn't know that -- in making its decision in 2008, the Board did not know that it would be giving you $757,000 (sic) of tax losses that hadn't cost you a dime, did it?  Did they know that?

MR. BARRETT:  Well, it is hard for us to know exactly what the Board knew in respect of this issue.  I take the point that this was not a fact that was central to the discussion of taxes, but the fact remains this is what the Board's decision was, that prior to April 1, 2008, the Bruce assets were to be treated as part of OPG's unregulated operations.

That has both pluses and minuses associated with it.  The variance account that was established to deal with Bruce going forward only takes effect April 1, 2008.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if I could get an undertaking to provide the calculation of when the tax losses get factored in in subsequent years.  You say you have it.  Can we have it, please?

MR. SMITH:  Well, I mean, yes, the calculation is available subject to what Mr. Kogan has indicated, although certainly it will be our position at the end of the day that having regard to the Board's decision, the relevance - there is no relevance to any of these figures.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That may be a matter for argument.

MR. HEARD:  Could I add one more further point to help maybe reduce what you might think the importance of this is?

In looking at the 2007, you will note a line, on line 11, of table 16 "Contributions to Nuclear Segregated Funds" of 563 million, and so -- and you will see that of the $390 million, the loss in 2007 was $341.

So, by and large, most of the loss that we're talking about was caused by this item in 2007.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no, let me just stop you for a second.  No, that is not actually true, is it, because not only did you have the loss associated with that, but you also got rid of all your taxable income with deductions that later we're going to have to pick up, didn't you?  That is another 370 million; right?

MR. HEARD:  I'm not sure that I would agree with that.  Could you explain?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  You had accounting income of 370-odd-million dollars in those three years?

MR. HEARD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You paid no tax on it, because we're going to have to pick up those costs after 2008; right?

MR. HEARD:  No, I disagree with that.  And the reason I disagree with that is because we're using GAAP to calculate the tax provision.

In the future, ratepayers are not being asked to provide -- to provide the money for tax on a taxes payable method, which I think is what you are referring to for 2008 onward.  They're being asked to calculate it under GAAP.

So regardless of when we got the tax deduction for when we actually had to pay tax authorities the amount of money, what really matters is the GAAP tax calculation.

And, in this case, it doesn't matter whether -- it is more tied to the accounting deductions, rather than the tax deductions.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me come back to the undertaking I requested.  There is $757 or $760 million of tax deductions in excess of accounting deductions.

You have a calculation that shows when that timing difference comes back in, how it does, year by year or three years by three years, or whatever.  Can we please have that?

MR. HEARD:  Yes, we can probably calculate that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MR. HEARD:  And just if I could add the point I was trying to make was, on this line 11, "Contributions to Seg Funds", most of the tax loss that we're referring to is related to an extra contribution that was made to the segregated funds in 2007.

And in the last rate application -- and I am not sure if we have access to this, but it was on EB-2007-0905, tab 2, schedule 1, page 2 of 15.  I guess it is in -- sorry, Exhibit G2.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. HEARD:  And in there, we point out that OPG received some moneys as part of the transaction with Bruce, for the lease of the Bruce stations.  And, as part of that transaction, OPG had a note receivable from Bruce of $225 million.

And this was -- this is on lines 11 through 20 on that page.  And according to a directive that OPG had from the province at the time, the proceeds that we received from Bruce had to be contributed to the segregated funds when we received them.

What happened then, in effect, was that at the time of the Bruce lease transaction, prior to 2005 - so this would be back in the unregulated period - OPG received moneys from Bruce or had the note receivable, and we actually had to pay tax on it as a company.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that is $225 million?

MR. HEARD:  So OPG paid tax on this at the time.

MR. KOGAN:  No.  Sorry, I don't think it is 225.  I think it is 225 that has been escalated over time.

MR. HEARD:  Yes, 225 was the note receivable at the time, and then it had interest on it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it was taxable when?

MR. HEARD:  At the time of the Bruce lease agreement.  I would need to check whether it was 2001 or 2003, but I think the key point being that we had to pay tax on it, and then, subsequently, Bruce paid that amount to OPG, and OPG took that money, as per our directions, and put it in the segregated funds.

So in this case, what has really happened is we received the money from Bruce, and then in 2007 we contributed it.  I think under the requirements from the province we had until March 2008, but we had chosen to do it in 2007.  And we contributed it to the segregated fund.

So you're seeing a big deduction there.  So following the benefits follow costs principle, OPG basically what paid tax on it upon collecting it from Bruce, and then provided to the -- provided to the funds or sent -- you know, put the money in the funds, and, as a result, that would be the amount that was paid for by OPG.  So it would be maybe inappropriate to provide the benefit of that deduction to ratepayers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand if that is as you described, then you are probably right.

You received -- you were -- you got this note in 2001 or 2003 and you paid tax on it at that time, on $225 million.

And, subsequently, when the money was paid to you, you then paid it over as an extra contribution to the seg fund?

MR. HEARD:  Right, of 334 million.  So I should have clarified that.  Of the 563, 334 million of it was this one-time special contribution. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, sorry.  How much did you pay tax on? 

MR. HEARD:  Probably related to the 225. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. HEARD:  But what would have happened is OPG had the money, and there was a requirement that, given that OPG had this money, that it had to provide interest on it, as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So this deduction of 563 in 2007, 225 million of that, you had already paid tax on in 2001 or 2003.  So although it looks like you got a special break, then, you didn't really.  You were just getting back what you had already paid tax on?

MR. HEARD:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay. 

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Shepherd, I'm sorry to interrupt.  You got an undertaking about five minutes back, and we have yet to give it a reference number.  It will be J14.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. J14.5: TO PROVIDE THE CALCULATION OF WHEN THE TAX LOSSES GET FACTORED IN IN SUBSEQUENT YEARS

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

Madam Chair, those are my questions.  I'm sorry my additional questions took a lot longer than I expected, but I am done.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Thank you. 

Mr. Buonaguro, I think you are next; am I correct?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes, thank you.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:


MR. BUONAGURO:  Good afternoon, panel.  My name is Michael Buonaguro.  I am counsel for the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.

MR. BARRETT:  Good afternoon. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  I, at one time, thought about maybe asking some questions on taxes and the tax variance deferral account, but I have been dissuaded by my friend's detailed cross, thankfully, so I am going to focus on some questions which I think are mostly follow-up questions on the issues related to the nuclear liability deferral account.

I asked some questions of panel number 8 on nuclear liabilities, and some of them crossed over into what I would call the liability deferral account issue, and I was told I should ask this panel.  So that is where my mind is for this cross.

I am going to start with putting up on the screen a couple of sections, starting with this. 

Just to make sure I give the right quote, this is Ontario Regulation 53/05, and I am looking at, to start, in particular with Section 6, sub (ii), number 8, which is the section I raised with the panel number 8. 

And that section says:

"The Board shall ensure that Ontario Power Generation Inc. recovers the revenue requirement impact of its nuclear decommissioning liability arising from the current approved reference plan."

And in connection with that particular section, I had asked panel number 8 how it was that the nuclear liabilities that it was seeking to recover for the test years, 2011 and 2012, could be ordered by the Board, given that they seem, to me, at least, to flow from the previous approved plan, and wouldn't be captured until the next approved plan, which I believe is scheduled for 2012.

And if you recall from that testimony, the answer generally was that that panel felt that the 2011 and 2012 costs associated with nuclear liabilities, despite the fact that they were based on the impacts of Darlington refurbishment, were nevertheless consistent with the old 2006 approved plan.

Do you recall that bit of testimony? 

MR. BARRETT:  At a very high level, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So I believe their answer was:  You don't have to worry about Section 8 of the Reg because, in their opinion, whether it was with Darlington or without Darlington, either set of numbers could be reconciled with the existing current approved reference plan, and therefore this section would be satisfied. 

I am going to tell you that I am not 100 percent sure that is true, so I wanted to follow up with this panel on how you would deal with it, if the Board agreed with me that that is not the case, and that this section had to be -- this section had to be reckoned with. 

So on the assumption that -- first of all -- that this Board determines that the impact of Darlington refurbishment on nuclear liabilities is properly captured in the test period, but also assuming that the Board determines that the current approved reference plan doesn't capture that impact and therefore this section would be violated if it were to simply grant a revenue requirement that was based on an as-yet-approved reference plan, my suggestion would be to establish a deferral account to capture the difference until the new reference plan was approved, and therefore this section could be -- could be met. 

I wanted to get your thoughts on that.  So essentially what I would be suggesting is that -– now, assuming that, again, the Darlington refurbishment impact on nuclear liabilities was determined by this Board to be an appropriate adjustment to the revenue requirement for the test period, that your proposal -- which is in the evidence at -- under the impacts the Darlington refurbishment on the test period, I think it is a revenue reduction of -- I should pull it up.

MR. BARRETT:  In the order of $190 million.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

In order to capture that without violating the section, you would include that, your proposal or whatever adjustments needed to be made, depending on the Board's order of that reduction in the revenue requirement related to nuclear liabilities.

Then the difference between that and what would be the amount under the previously-approved reference plan -- which would be $190 million more -- would be captured in a deferral account, subject to being essentially offset by the impact of the new reference plan when it becomes available.

That is how I would get around this section, by protecting OPG under this section, at the same time satisfying the Board's obligation to ensure that Ontario Power Generation recovers the revenue requirement impact of its nuclear decommissioning liability arising from the current approved reference plan.

Does that sound like a plausible solution to you?  Assuming that the Board agrees that the proposal is not consistent with the current approved reference plan? 

MR. BARRETT:  I think we're going to have to take that in pieces, because that was a fairly long --


MR. BUONAGURO:  I know.

MR. BARRETT:  -- and, I agree, a thoughtful consideration of the matter. 

So taking it in kind of baby steps, the costs which underpin our nuclear liability information in this filing are based on the old reference plan.

The only thing that is different, as I think you understand, is we changed the life of Darlington plant, and that has some consequent impacts.

So all of the costs of the starting points are from the old reference plan. 

So in terms of making this application, we kind of had a choice.  We could have tried to be perfectly consistent with the existing reference plan, which would have caused us to have a higher revenue requirement, and not flow through in this '11 and '12 the benefits to the revenue requirement of extending the life.  So that is one path we could have gone down.  We didn't go down that path. 

What we did is we filed an application that was kind of consistent with our business plan, consistent with our audited financial statements, and that recognized that the life of the facility was going to be extended and that had some revenue requirement savings in 2011 and 2012.  So we wanted to give those in that test period. 

I agree there is some issue around the interpretation of 6, (ii), 8, in terms of how tightly you want to interpret the wording of that section vis-à-vis the timing of when some of these things, the timing of when the Board actually ensures that we recover the costs related to our nuclear liabilities. 

So the Board could interpret that section in kind of a pragmatic way, as we've tried to do here, and flow through our proposals.

Alternatively, I understand your proposal would be to say:  Let's take a strict interpretation of that section and not flow through the $190 million, i.e., raise the revenue requirement now, but put $190 million credit in some account, which would be carried forward, and that eventually returned in the fullness of time, once we got on the other side of a new reference plan. 

Now, that new reference plan will be also an updating of the cost.  So there will be a number of things happening at that time.  It won't -- it won't be entirely due to the extension of the Darlington life to 2051.  There will also be an updating of the costs of the nuclear liability programs, as we're required to undertake. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  But presumably to preserve the proposal that you made in this case, the terms of the deferral account could be scoped out to reflect the specific reduction that you are seeking, which is a reduction specific to the impact of Darlington refurbishment and the way you have reflected it in the filing.

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, that could be done, again, in a world where we are increasing the revenue requirement, and then putting aside this credit in a deferral account.

Under the regulation, there already is another variance account which has to be established which captures the difference between the reference plan incorporated into any payment amounts established by the Board versus any new reference plan that might come into effect during that rate period.

So to the extent that there were differences in the new reference plan approved at the end of, I think it is 2011, that difference would go into that account, and we would just have to work the math to make sure there wasn't any double counting between the two accounts.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So it sounds like how it would work is, again, assuming that the Board was agreed that the impact of Darlington refurbishment on nuclear liabilities as is set out in the application were appropriate for the test period, you would have a Board-created deferral account which would allow you to put that impact in base rates, and that the under-recovery would be in the deferral account, subject to being offset by the new reference plan.

And then you would have, if there's the new reference plan not only offset that, but have other changes, that would be captured in the statutorily created deferral account under, I think it is, section 5.2 of the same regulation.

MR. BARRETT:  I think you had it reversed.

So if the Board was persuaded by your, what I will call, strict interpretation of 6.(2)8 and did not want to reflect any of the consequence -- the $190 million reduction to revenue requirement, so revenue requirement would actually go up, in that world.

MR. BUONAGURO:  If I can interrupt just so you understand what I am suggesting, it would be the opposite.

You would --


MR. BARRETT:  You're saying they would set rates based on the $190 million reduction, which is what I call the pragmatic reading of the 6.(2)8.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Then the deferral account would protect the company, with respect to the $190 million reduction, until the time that the new reference plan determines that that isn't true, that that in fact should be the appropriate reduction for the test years.

So the effect would be the same as what you are proposing.  The test years would be based on the $190 million reduction, but in order to satisfy section 6.(2), part 8, the deferral account would track that 190 million reduction.  So the company wouldn't be out of pocket.  It would still have the regulatory asset until the new reference plan captured that reduction.

So you are deferring collection of that, until the new reference plan figure is out, how you're going to deal with it.  Perhaps it would be easier for me to explain in argument, but I wanted to give you a chance to think about that and see if that direction would be something that would be agreeable in terms of doing two things:  One, meeting a stricter definition of section 6.(2), part 8, but at the same time maintaining the $190 million reduction you are proposing, because the alternative is, you know, quite a large revenue requirement increase.

MR. SMITH:  Well, I think your suggestion is a good one, but it is in -- presumably you are going to make this suggestion in argument, and we are going to have to respond to it.  But I think it is fairly scoped out on the record now.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, I think you can construct this and mechanically it can work, and I think you can work the math out, but, again, that is not our proposal.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So I will go back to your proposal.

Your proposal is a different reading of section 8, essentially, which is that -- is that your $190 million reduction is consistent enough with the existing plan that it is a fair recovery in rates?

MR. BARRETT:  Given that it is drawn from the costs which are included in the current reference plan and we're really talking just simply about a timing issue.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And why wouldn't that have applied to the year 2010, as well?

MR. BARRETT:  I'm sorry, I am not following.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, just in terms of 2010, you will recall from the same panel I went through the fact that in 2010, for accounting purposes, you have actually made the - you made, again, in accordance with GAAP, the same reductions to the nuclear liability amounts for 2010 purposes and to the tune of about a $60 million difference, or I think it is $58.2 million.


Your nuclear -- the difference between the nuclear liabilities that was embedded in rates for 2010 and what you actually recorded on an accounting basis was approximately $58.2 million, if I remember the table correctly, and I can pull it up, if you like.

Do you want to use the table as a reference?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. KOGAN:  Just for clarity, is this the table that you have asked to be extended via an undertaking to include -- or perhaps it was Mr. Shepherd -- to include the Bruce impacts and non-nuclear liability impacts?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Some of it is captured in that, but that is for the test period.  I am going to pull up the actual -- this is Exhibit L-14-35, so this is a VECC interrogatory.  This is attachment 1.  I went through this with the previous panel, with panel number 8.  I am going to blow up the actual table.

MR. KOGAN:  Just to clarify, you are asking our position with regard to establishing a deferral account regarding the 2010 equivalent amount, whatever it is, and that would be -- how would that work exactly?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, actually --


MR. KOGAN:  To try to operationalize it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  When I am asking about why it would not be necessary to establish a new deferral account in order to preserve the revenue requirement for the test years, the answer is, well, if you interpret section 8 the way we interpret it, the current approved reference plan underpins a nuclear liability amount which is consistent with the Darlington refurbishment being in play, because all it really does is change the timing of those expenditures as opposed to underlying costs.

That is my general understanding of why you think the test period expenses for nuclear liabilities are consistent with the current approved plan.

So what I am asking is just a follow-up question.  If you look at table number 4 here, which was reissued to capture Darlington impacts in 2010, you can see that the total revenue requirement impact on the prescribed facilities at line number 6 of the Darlington refurbishment on nuclear liabilities is $58.1 million credit.

So in 2010, the company recorded $58.1 million less in expenses related to nuclear liabilities as a result of the Darlington refurbishment going to the definition phase.  That is how I understood that.

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, I think that is fair.  But I guess I would say a couple of things.

One, this is one of the many puts and takes in 2010.  And, as you will recall, on a net basis the company did not earn its allowed return in 2010.

More specifically, I would make the point that there wasn't any account in 2010 to bring this $58.1 million forward.

So what you are proposing, I think, in effect, is some variance on retroactive ratemaking.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, in terms of what accounts did exist, obviously there is -- there was a specific nuclear liability deferral account in existence.  That's the statutory one?

MR. BARRETT:  That's right.  That deals with the difference between the approved reference plan that underpins rates, and any new approved reference plan that emerges during that rate period.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And I put up just for reference purposes the section of the Regulation 53/05 that sets that up.

MR. KOGAN:  Mr. Buonaguro, just -- maybe I am a little bit confused, but it seems like the two proposals are contradicted in interpreting not this section, but the previous section of the regulation you were referring to, in that in 2010 our rates continue as they were set in 2008 and 2009, and that was based on the then approved reference plan.

There was no, in quotation marks, "deviation", as I think you're referring to now when you're talking about this life extension to Darlington.

So even in your reading of that section, I don't see how you can get to deferral account in 2010, because the rates in 2010 do not reflect the extension to Darlington life.  So we are completely operating under the then existing -- sorry, currently existing reference plan.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you for that.  That brings me, though, to my question about specific to the nuclear liability deferral account, because this account was existing in 2010, obviously; correct?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, that's right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Obviously it would have been - it has subsisted since the original payment amounts decision from 2008, because the regulation told you to establish it; correct?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, that's right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And you will recall that I went through the Ontario Nuclear Funds Agreement with the previous panel?

MR. BARRETT:  I am not sure I was present for that, but I am generally aware of it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I have great faith in the amount of things that you are aware of, so you will forgive me if I overstep.

And one of the things I am struggling with is that, well, this particular nuclear liability deferral account is supposed to track -- and I am going to paraphrase between part 1 and part 1A -- the revenue requirement impact of changes in its -- i.e., OPG's -- total nuclear commissioning liability between A, the liability arising from the approved reference plan incorporated into the Board's most recent order, under Section 78.1 of the act, and B, the liability arising from the current approved reference plan.

And as you have just said, the order that subsisted in 2010 was based on the current approved reference plan, and that is why you say that this particular section doesn't capture the changes that you made in 2010; correct?

MR. BARRETT:  That's right, because there is no delta.  There is only one plan.  The plan that existed in 2010 is the same plan that underpins the rates which were in effect in 2010.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But then as I also went through with panel number 8, under ONFA, there was actually a material change which triggered a requirement that the OPG, A, notify the province of a material change, and B, prepare a new -- a reference plan for approval.

And that would have created, under Section 5.2, 1b, a new current approved reference plan, would it not?  Had that happened?

MR. BARRETT:  Had that happened, well, two things I guess.  One, it didn't happen.  So there is no -- there isn't a period of time in 2010 where there is two reference plans, one in rates and one otherwise, that would give rise to this delta.

And I think given how long it takes to produce a reference plan, even if we were determined to start on producing a new reference plan in January 2010, I am not sure we would get it done within the calendar year of 2010.

It's a very long and involved exercise.  It involves considerable work and computation, and a considerable amount of time.  We started on it now, and -- for example, and we don't expect it to be done until the end of 2011.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But you would agree, though, that the plan that you're working on now actually looks at all of the underlying cost estimates for all of the different things that you have to do for nuclear liabilities; right?

MR. BARRETT:  It is an updated plan, reflecting cost changes, changes to the life of Darlington, among other things.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  But if all you are doing is changing the life of Darlington, and adding fuel bundles down the line, it is a much simpler exercise to update the plan; wouldn't you agree?  You can do a –- an amended plan?

MR. BARRETT:  You are starting to get out of my level of knowledge with respect to the ONFA process and the amount of work.

My only experience is that it takes a very long time to do one of these approved reference plans.

We have to do our own work, and then we have to satisfy the government, who ultimately signs off on these and approves these reference plans, that all of the stuff has been done correctly and accurately.  And that is a fairly time-consuming process.

MR. KOGAN:  And I think that there is a premise in your question that you could do a different approved reference plan with just a change in life and, you know, plant that is simpler.

I am not actually sure that if, in this case, the province did not waive the triggering event mechanism, as I think you discussed with the other panel, that trigger likely requires that the entire plan be updated, and that includes not just one element, but as Mr. Barrett's explained, all of the various costs.

So even if there were to be magically a new approved reference plan, it would involve all of those elements.  It wouldn't just be a change in life.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I won't go too far into that, because that is partly the conversation I had with panel 8.  I would point out that panel 8 did say you could do an amended plan as opposed to an updated plan.

That is on the record, and if I am wrong, then you're going to tell me I am wrong, if I refer to it in argument.

And second, though, wouldn't the important thing be the triggering of a material change could impact on what the effective date of any new plan would be?

MR. BARRETT:  Again, you are right at the edge of my understanding of the process.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. BARRETT:  But we bring things to the government's attention, and they decide whether or not, in their view, it is material enough to warrant a computation of a new approved reference plan.

And their decision, in this instance, was that it was not.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I think we actually just received the undertaking from the company, just literally minutes ago -- not that it should have come earlier –- with the exchange between the company and the province on relieving the company of the obligation to provide a new plan.

So that will speak for itself.

I just want to check my notes.

No, that's it.  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.

MR. BARRETT:  Thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

Mr. DeRose, I believe CME is next.

MR. DeROSE:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

I will not be done by 4:30.  Would you like me to -- I am just looking at the time.  Would you like me to start, and we will try to get a few minutes in, or...

MS. CHAPLIN:  Oh, sure.

MR. DeROSE:  How are we doing?

MS. CHAPLIN:  Let's do that.
Cross Examination by Mr. DeRose:

MR. DeROSE:  Good afternoon, panel.  My name is Vince DeRose.  I am here on behalf of CME.

I will try and find some questions for you, Mr. Halperin.  I notice you lonely in the corner there for the day.

If I can have you start by -- I would like to make reference to the compendium of documents that CME has provided.  This is K9.5.

I suspect that, Mr. Barrett, these questions will be for you.  If you can turn to -- I would like to start with tab 15.

Do you have that tab 15, Mr. Barrett?

MR. BARRETT:  I do, as does Mr. Halperin.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And the only reason I thought perhaps it would be you, Mr. Barrett, is I started to ask questions to Mr. Halperin during the panel 9 cross on this, and was told this was a panel 10 document.  So...

MR. BARRETT:  Between the two of us, we will respond to your question.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.

First of all, in terms of -- if you go to line 11 on the table, this is Exhibit -- from Exhibit I1, tab 1, schedule 2.  It provides the annualized residential customer impact assessment for the test period.

Line 11 shows the monthly residential customer bill at 109.40; is that right?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.  And there is a footnote at the bottom of that, which references the source of that information.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now, if you can, then, turn back one tab to tab 14, this is from your previous payments case.  It is a similar table.  I believe you calculated it from the footnotes.  It looks like you calculated it in the same way.

First of all, is that a fair assumption, that this was calculated in the same way?

MR. BARRETT:  This was essentially calculated in the same way.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now, the one thing that I noticed was that in your previous table 1 -- so this is from EB-2007-0905 -- the amount is calculated based on 1,000 kilowatt-hours a month.

Do you see that in line 1?

MR. BARRETT:  I do.

MR. DeROSE:  If you flip back to tab 15, in this case, you have calculated it at 800 kilowatt-hours a month?

MR. BARRETT:  That's correct.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now, if I wanted to have an apples-to-apples comparison so that I can see what the increase has been from your last payments case to this case, would it be as simple as if I were to gross-up the 800 to 1,000, I would simply say:  What's 25 percent of 800?  Which is 200, and add it on?

Is it that simple?  Can I take the 109.40?  And 25 percent of that is 27.35, add that to the 109.40 for 136.75?

MR. BARRETT:  I don't think it is that -- quite that simple.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.

MR. BARRETT:  Again, just by way of context, the 1,000 in the previous case and the 800 in the current case, that is the way the Board presents the information on its website.  So we have simply adopted the Board's approach, which involves a different assumption about customer usage.

MR. DeROSE:  Now, I have tried to use the Board's website on this, and I notice that you can actually change the kilowatt-hours; that although it comes up at 800 initially, you can put in 1,000 or you can put in any number you want.

My problem was, once I changed the number, I couldn't come up with -- I tried to get the numbers that you were producing here and I just couldn't do it.

Do you know, perhaps to cut to the chase, is there a way in which you can provide the 109.40 that you show in this case on a 1,000 kilowatt-hour basis, or, alternatively, could you provide the number from the previous case at an 800 kilowatt-hour basis, so that we have an apples-to-apples comparison to see the increases from your last case to this case?

MR. BARRETT:  I am not sure if that can be done, sir.  I'm not sure, for example, if the information that we used when we did the last filing is still available on the OEB's website.  I am not certain of that.

And I actually am not intimate with this adjustment from 800 to 1,000 based on the current information and whether or not that adjustment is a simple adjustment and an appropriate adjustment.

I can undertake, if it will be of assistance, to ask one of my staff whether that is something that could be done.

MR. DeROSE:  Well, perhaps we could do this - and I think the undertaking would be described as this - if you could recalculate table 1 at Exhibit I1, tab 1, schedule 2 to reflect 1,000 kilowatt-hours a month instead of 800 kilowatt-hours a month.  And if we just stop there, that would be the undertaking.

I think there are two caveats.  One, if you go back and you find out that you can't do it, perhaps Mr. Smith could advise why you can't do it.  The other -- there is one difficulty that I suspect you may have, and it is this.  The OEB's website that you reference in tabs 1, 2 and 7, as I understand it, it is continually -- I guess not continually, but it is updated from time to time, for instance, as the RPP changes or --


MR. BARRETT:  Or other decisions emerge.

MR. DeROSE:  Or other decisions emerge.

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  I would also -- so I recognize you might not be able to go back in time to calculate it the same way you did whatever date you prepared this table 1.

But I would be quite happy if you just updated the table, based on the Board's most current information on their website, on a 1,000 kilowatt-hour basis.

MR. BARRETT:  I am not sure if I am prepared to give that undertaking, sir.  Again, my sense is that this is very unlikely to be possible for us to do.

I am prepared to go so far as to check with the staff, who are more familiar with this information, whether it can be done; and, if it can be done in a reasonable amount of time and effort, to provide it.

MR. DeROSE:  So just so that I understand, are you suggesting that it is not possible for you to calculate table 1 on a 1,000 kilowatt-hour basis?

MR. BARRETT:  I am not sure if we would have all of the information in order to do that, sir.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Well, Madam Chair, I would like the undertaking.  This is something that I think would be important for you to have in your assessment in this case.

Perhaps we could ask for the table to be updated to reflect 1,000 kilowatt-hours, and, if it can't be done, I would like an explanation on the record why it can't be done.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes.  We will take that undertaking.

MR. MILLAR:  J14.6.
UNDERTAKING NO. J14.6:  TO RECALCULATE TABLE 1 AT EXHIBIT I1, TAB 1, SCHEDULE 2 TO REFLECT 1,000 KILOWATT-HOURS A MONTH INSTEAD OF 800 KILOWATT-HOURS A MONTH, AND, IF NOT ABLE TO FULFILL THE UNDERTAKING, TO PROVIDE AN EXPLANATION.

MR. DeROSE:  Now, panel, one more area before we stop for the day, and I would like to just close the loop on something that you said to Mr. Buonaguro.

This is with respect to -- he was asking you a number of questions about the reference plan and the 58.1 million in 2010.  I don't think we need to pull it up on the slides.  You know what I am referring to when I talk about the 58.1 million?

MR. BARRETT:  I recall that number.

MR. DeROSE:  And one of the comments that was made was that it would be -- because there was no deferral account established prior to 2010 or for 2010 to capture this amount, that it would be inappropriate to go back and capture it now, that that would be retroactive ratemaking.

Did I hear that right?

MR. BARRETT:  I did say that, yes.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So, as a general principle, is it OPG's position that where an amount is not captured by a deferral account in advance, it is inappropriate to go back in time and capture such amounts?

MR. BARRETT:  That's the essence of retroactive ratemaking.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So do I take it that you would agree -- in this case, there is going to be an issue - and I think Mr. Shepherd has already alluded to it - an issue of whether your income tax deferral account is -- sorry, does or does not cover 2010.  That will be an issue in argument.

Do I take it that you agree, based on that principle, that if the panel finds that the order in EB-2009-0038 did not establish a deferral account for 2010, that it would be inappropriate for you to collect the amounts from 2010, because that is retroactive ratemaking?

MR. SMITH:  No.  But you will certainly see, from the Board's prior decision in this respect, telegraphing argument that the Board specifically said that it would be covered and disposed of in this proceeding.

So we don't agree, but we will deal with it in argument.

MR. DeROSE:  Well, I wasn't asking on the point of whether it does or does not cover it.

What I was asking is:  Would the principle that you have stated for the 58.1 million equally apply to the deferral tax account, if the Board finds that there was no deferral account applicable for 2010?

MR. BARRETT:  You need a variance account or a deferral account in order to bring amounts from a prior period.  It is kind of a general proposition.  As we have stated several times, it is our view that there was an account and the amounts are properly brought forward.

MR. DeROSE:  Thank you very much.

Madam Chair, I am about to go to a new area.  I think this is probably the right time to break for the evening.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Certainly.  We will break now until tomorrow morning at 9 o'clock.  Thank you.

--- Whereupon hearing the adjourned at 4:30 p.m.
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